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ABOUT AMERICAN SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING, INC (AS&E ®) AS&E X-ray inspection systems are used by govern-

ments and corporations around the world to combat terrorism, drug and weapons smuggling, illegal immigration, and trade fraud. AS&E

specializes in detection technologies that can uncover dangerous and elusive threats, including explosives, plastic and metal weapons,

and radioactive devices, such as dirty bombs and weapons of mass destruction. These X-ray systems are deployed worldwide at ports,

borders, seaports, airports, and military and high-threat facilities. Our signature technology, Z Backscatter, gives our systems unparal-

leled detection capabilities, making it the technology of choice when the highest levels of security are required.

Z Portal’s three-sided Z Backscatter imaging (left-side, top-down, and right-side views, below) reveal threats and contraband as

bright white. The top-down view clearly reveals a stowaway in a hidden compartment of the floor of the van and packages of drugs

hidden in the dashboard. 



In fiscal year 2008, we 
successfully completed our 

four-year turnaround, strategically
laying the groundwork for a 
significantly stronger, more 

diversified world-class company.

2008 FINANCIAL REVIEW  

• International revenues increased by 43 percent over FY 2007, due to broadened global channels, while total revenue increased 9 percent to 
$166.7 million.

• The current year demonstrated a shift in the product mix: Cargo product revenues increased by 153 percent, Parcel system revenues increased 
by 111 percent, and Field Service revenues increased by 17 percent, while Z Backscatter systems revenue decreased by 40 percent.

• To speed up delivery of new products and technologies to market, R&D expenses increased 71 percent — from $7.2 million in FY 2007 to 
$12.3 million in FY 2008.

• Backlog on March 31, 2008, was $99.6 million, or 6 percent below the March 31, 2007, balance of $105.6 million.

• In FY 2008, net income was $17.5 million compared to $24.6 million in FY 2007, with EPS of $1.87, compared to $2.38 in FY 2007.

• The Board of Directors again approved a Stock Repurchase Program, which authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $35 million of shares 
of its common stock on the open market.  

• The Company paid three quarterly cash dividends of $0.20 per share in FY 2008.

• AS&E was named to the NASDAQ Global Select Market, the Market with the highest initial listing standards in the world.

• AS&E appeared for the third year in a row on The Boston Globe’s “Globe 100” list of top performing public companies in Massachusetts.

• The Fortune Small Business “FSB 100” list ranked AS&E 61 out of the 100 fastest-growing small public companies in the U.S.

BACKLOG
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OMNIVIEW SYSTEM SECURES 

MIDDLE EAST BORDER CROSSING

In fiscal year 2008, we booked multiple OmniView

Gantry systems to key clients in strategic regions of

the world. Customs officials in the Middle East 

utilize OmniView to inspect dense cargo for terrorist

threats, smuggled goods, and drugs. Equipped with

AS&E’s proprietary technology, OmniView is the

only relocatable, high-energy inspection system with

multiple X-ray views, offering unmatched detection.
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High-energy transmission X-ray

Z Backscatter X-ray, left view

Z Backscatter X-ray, top view

Z Backscatter X-ray, right view



In FY 2008, we increased Cargo Systems
revenues by 153 percent, adding 

customers in such key strategic regions
as Western Europe and the Middle East.



GEMINI TO PROVIDE SECURITY

AT 2008 BEIJING OLYMPICS

With its combination of proprietary Z Backscatter

technology and state-of-the-art dual-energy X-ray

technology, the Gemini parcel screening system can

detect guns, knives, and other contraband — as well

as plastic and liquid explosives that other systems

miss. The system was chosen to be part of the very

rigorous security protocols at the 2008 Beijing

Olympics. At right, Beijing security officials attend 

a Gemini training class.
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Z Backscatter X-ray of the same briefcase reveals liquid explosives.

Dual-energy X-ray of a briefcase generates a high-resolution image.



We regained a strong footing in the parcel
screening marketplace in FY 2008, with 

the sale of hundreds of Gemini systems and
a growing international pipeline.
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THE ZBV SCREENS CARGO FOR

THREATS AND CONTRABAND

In FY 2008, 76 percent of our total ZBV bookings

were made in the international marketplace. 

With photo-like X-rays, versatility, and mobility, 

the ZBV is the No.1-selling non-intrusive mobile

inspection system on the market. The ZBV is proving

its effectiveness in the field — numerous customers

have reported seizures of drugs and contraband, and

the detection of explosives in vehicles in war zones. 

Z Backscatter X-ray reveals over 200 bottles of smuggled liquor.

ZBV X-ray reveals drugs hidden in the vertical supports of this truck.

Z Backscatter X-ray reveals a stowaway hidden behind a false wall. 



With 16 new customers in 12 nations, 
the Z Backscatter Van achieved 

significant market penetration in the
Middle East and Africa and gained 

several high-potential clients in Europe, 
Central America, and South America. 



I am confident in saying that in the last fiscal year we made
crucial strides in creating a stronger, more versatile, and more
responsive company. It is a significant transformation of the
business that has given us the building blocks required to con-
tinue seizing opportunities and adapting to changing markets,
next year, and beyond.

We fell short of meeting all of the goals of fiscal year
(FY) 2008’s aggressive business plan, but we proved we can
profitably diversify our business with multiple high-growth
products in new customer markets and transcend our reliance
on one product. 

In FY 2008, we increased revenues by 9 percent, rising to
$166.7 million from $153.2 million the previous year. The
increased revenues resulted in large part from our strategy of
product diversification in targeted markets. We recorded a
153 percent increase in Cargo revenues, a 111 percent increase

in Parcel revenues, a 17 percent increase in Field Service rev-

enues, and a 94 percent increase in revenues from Contract
Research & Development. These revenue increases were off-
set somewhat by a 40 percent decrease in Z Backscatter system
revenues. Key to the revenue increases was robust growth in
international sales and service — one of our critical success

factors for the year. 

International achievements

The major theme for FY 2008 was international business —
increasing both revenue and channel. It was a call answered ably
by our sales and marketing organization.

We made outstanding progress on a global basis, as
demonstrated by a 43 percent increase in international revenue
in 2008 to $59.7 million — up from the $41.8 million we
reported in FY 2007.

We achieved sizable revenue increases and made substan-
tial sales inroads in key regions around the world, including
Africa, South America, Europe, and the Middle East. This suc-
cess in the international marketplace was a satisfying accom-
plishment, as our strategy in the last four years has been to ramp
up our international sales channels across all product lines.

Another encouraging result in FY 2008 was our formida-
ble success in capturing new customers — 57 percent of book-
ings were from new customers — with most of them in the
international marketplace. We proved our ability to increase the
proposal “win rate” by pinpointing new opportunities for cus-
tomers with applications that are a good fit for our products.
The result is a more efficient and successful approach to sales
and marketing. 

A healthy company — a diversified product mix

Despite all the noteworthy achievements of the last fiscal year,
we were not satisfied with our profitability. Net income fell to
$17.5 million from $24.6 million. Per share, that amounts to
$1.87 for FY 2008, as compared to $2.38 the year before —
a 51-cent decrease. While part of the decline can be attributed
to the decrease in revenue from Z Backscatter systems, it also
was due to lower gross margins impacted by a more diverse
product mix. In addition, a 71 percent increase in R&D
expenses and a 12-cent per-share charge — related to the write-

D E A R  F E L L OW  S H A R E H O L D E R S , While the results for fiscal year 2008 were mixed, our 

accomplishments were a strong confirmation of our long-term strategy to grow and diversify AS&E’s business. 
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ZBV DETECTS OVER A TON OF DRUGS 

AT THE PORT OF LA GOULETTE IN TUNISIA

In February 2008, over a ton of drugs was seized by Customs 
officials at the Port of Goulette in Tunis, Tunisia. The drugs were 
hidden in a truck headed for France, and were detected when the 
truck was scanned by a ZBV. The largest drug bust in Tunisian 
history, the drugs had a street value of more than $5 million.



down of a note receivable — further reduced earnings per share.
With our increased product mix, maintaining our track

record for high gross margins was very challenging in FY
2008. We experienced cost overruns on new product introduc-
tions to meet customer expectations for timely delivery, instal-
lation, and training. While the result yielded satisfied customers,
we have implemented the necessary management and process
adjustments to ensure margin improvement in new product
introductions, as well as in full-scale production.

While backlog remains healthy — on March 31, 2008,
it totaled $99.6 million — it was 6 percent below the March
31, 2007, balance of $105.6 million. In perspective, however,
backlog remains at an impressive level, some $30 million
higher than it was two years ago. Although not yet recorded in
backlog, we have $42 million of unfunded contracts that we
expect to book in the next 12 months.

As we continue to generate strong positive cash flow, our
belief is reinforced that AS&E is an excellent investment oppor-
tunity. Thus, the Board of Directors, which last year authorized
the Company to repurchase up to $35 million in shares of com-
mon stock from time to time on the open market, has author-
ized another $35 million repurchase program. The Board also
initiated a dividend program during the last fiscal year, result-
ing in three quarterly dividends of 20 cents per share.

In short, while AS&E’s transition to a more diversified
product line and customer mix has met some challenges along
the way, we are confident that the result will be a stronger, more
profitable company that will thrive and meet the evolving
requirements of our clients worldwide. 

A unique product portfolio

Over the last several years, we have worked hard to deliver new
products that meet the needs of our customers — products
that are affordable, reliable, profitable, and available in short
lead times. In FY 2008, we began to reap the benefits of this
strategy, with our proprietary X-ray inspection systems gain-
ing increased market share.

Cargo Systems — Market Breakthroughs  The OmniView
Gantry™ and the Z Portal® achieved market breakthroughs in
the last year. In FY 2008, revenues from Cargo Systems rose
by an impressive 153 percent, to $29.8 million, from $11.8 mil-
lion the previous year. We installed several OmniView Gantry
and Z Portal systems in the last year for both domestic and
international customers. 

We made significant inroads in sales of the OmniView
Gantry in FY 2008. The system, with its unique combination
of technologies that delivers the most reliable means to inspect
cargo, increased to 10 percent of our total revenue — up from
4 percent of total revenues in FY 2007. We recorded sales of
the OmniView Gantry to several key clients in strategic regions
of the world, including one to a major port in Italy. We con-
sider it both a breakthrough sale in a very important region and
a significant endorsement of a product that has substantial
potential for market growth. 

During the fiscal year, we also received the first order from
a strategic U.S. government customer for a Z Portal drive-
through inspection system. This system will be configured for

passenger vehicle inspection for border security applications.
We look forward to working closely with this valued customer
to ensure a successful pilot test in the current fiscal year.
Additionally, another U.S. government agency is testing the
Z Portal to measure its capabilities for several applications,
including mass transit. 

The bottom line is that we are very optimistic about the
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SOUTH AMERICAN SECURITY OFFICIALS SEIZE

4.2 TONS OF COCAINE IN CARGO CONTAINER

A seizure of 4.2 tons of cocaine was made when a South American 
security official was viewing the Z Backscatter Van’s photo-like image 
of a cargo container. The officer noted that three pallets of a shipment 
of paper were inconsistent with other pallets in the cargo. The cocaine 
was discovered hidden amid the paper.



potential of the Z Portal, which was introduced in FY 2007.
We are confident the Z Portal will become a successful prod-
uct with high volume potential, because it provides customers
with an effective tool for manned vehicle scanning applications,
and offers an outstanding value proposition.

Parcel Systems — Sales Channel Growing  Introduced
in FY 2007, the Gemini™ system gained strong footing in the
marketplace in FY 2008. We successfully delivered hundreds
of systems, meeting all of our production goals for the year —
a gratifying start to our efforts to regain market share in the par-
cel screening marketplace.

Once again, international sales played a significant role in
the success of Gemini, accounting for 67 percent of all Gemini
orders in FY 2008. And the global pipeline is growing. The
highest-profile international sale was the purchase of several
Gemini systems for use at the 2008 Olympics, where they will
be part of the very rigorous security protocols in Beijing.
Several of the Gemini systems were also sold to protect high-
threat facilities in the United States.

In sum, we remain very optimistic about the potential of

this unique product, which combines our proprietary Z Backscatter
technology with state-of-the-art transmission X-ray technology
at an affordable price.

Personnel Screening — Passengers Choose SmartCheck
Manufactured to meet the ever-increasing requirement for
advanced personnel screening, the SmartCheck™ system is con-

tinuing to prove itself in an ongoing pilot project at Phoenix Sky
Harbor International Airport. In that pilot, 90 percent of pas-
sengers have chosen a Z Backscatter scan as opposed to a con-
ventional, more intrusive pat-down by security officials.
SmartCheck has proven to be a very safe, comprehensive
method to safeguard air travel, while ensuring travelers’ privacy.
We are very pleased with the overwhelming positive passenger
response to the system and anticipate continued success with
the recently launched pilot projects on both coasts, one at Los
Angeles International Airport and the other at John F. Kennedy
International Airport in New York. 

The IDIQ (indefinite-delivery, indefinite-quantity)

awarded by the Transportation Security Administration (TSA)

in FY 2008 allows for the purchase of up to 75 SmartCheck

systems for use as secondary personnel scanners at airport

checkpoints. We look forward to our continued work with the

TSA on this critical project. We believe SmartCheck’s pri-

vacy-enhanced technology clearly offers the best detection

capability. Combined with its ability to process images crisply

and accurately, the system should prove to be the personnel

screening system of choice for all classes of secured locations.

ZBV — Expanding Internationally International sales

also played a key role in the performance of the ZBV™ in FY

2008. Seventy-six percent of our total ZBV bookings were

made in the international marketplace. We added 16 new cus-

tomers in 12 nations in the last fiscal year, achieving significant

market penetration in the Middle East and Africa as well as

gaining some high-potential clients in Europe, Central America,

and South America.

Since its introduction, we have sold over 340 ZBVs

to more than 75 customers in 41 countries. Still, sales of

Z Backscatter systems fell by 40 percent in the last fiscal year,

mostly due to an anticipated drop in ZBV bookings by the U.S.

military and a shortfall in anticipated international orders due

to delays in new bookings. However, the pipeline of opportu-

nities for ZBVs is very strong, and we are optimistic about the
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Z BACKSCATTER DETECTS 1,042 KG OF

SMUGGLED DRUGS IN THE MIDDLE EAST 

With the help of a Z Backscatter Van, officials at a Middle East border
crossing found 1,042 kilograms of marijuana in the false wall of a
delivery truck. The ZBV clearly revealed the smuggled goods, and the
agents were able to seize the drugs, which had a street value of 
approximately $1 million.
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potential for future orders from various international and

domestic market segments.
One reason for our continued optimism about the ZBV’s

future is its impressive performance in the field. The number
of ZBV success stories continues to grow, from the seizure of
large quantities of drugs in foreign countries to the detection
of large amounts of explosives in vehicles in war zones. 

We remain committed to meeting the current and future
needs of our customers. In FY 2008, we made further enhance-
ments to the ZBV, consistent with our evolving product devel-
opment road map. We now have three chassis options,
additional language interfaces, and we have ruggedized our
Forwardscatter™ module for military deployment.

We have also completed the development and prototype
of our new ZBV Military Trailer™. Currently in final testing,
it can be towed by a specialized military-certified armored
vehicle. We look forward to the successful completion of final
testing and evaluation, which is expected in the near future.

Strength in the field

The Field Service group once again exceeded plan in FY 2008
with outstanding results. Revenue grew by 17 percent with a
significant increase recorded in international service revenue.
This growth not only reflects a higher base of installed prod-
ucts, but also the commitment from our Field Service team to

achieve the highest customer satisfaction ratings. In fact, Field
Service has exceeded all contractual commitments for uptime
availability, or UTA. 

In war zones, the U.S. government continues to receive
the highest quality technical support from our Field Service
group for their ZBVs operating in harsh terrain. The ZBVs have
achieved greater than 93 percent operational readiness in war
zones, a significant level above the 85 percent required standard.

Commitment to innovation

As I’ve said before, as a company we are driven to innovate and
continually improve our product offerings and technologies.

A key means of achieving those goals is through Contract
Research and Development, or CRAD, funding. In FY 2008,
we continued to work on very promising CRAD programs with
various customers.

One important program — the deployment of a minia-
turized Z Backscatter module on a robotic platform for remote
surveillance in high-threat environments — has produced its first
images. The customer is very pleased with the results, and we
expect to receive next-phase funding in the near future.

We also made excellent progress on a breakthrough con-
cept for very long-range Z Backscatter imaging. This project
is a good example of how AS&E’s highly talented science and
engineering teams are providing very high-tech solutions to crit-
ical customer problems. 

In FY 2008, we also completed a successful demonstra-
tion of a portable Z Backscatter imaging system that uses a new,
patented technology. We are optimistic that this new technol-
ogy could result in a completely new class of products. 

With innovation always a priority, we increased spending
on internal R&D, or IRAD, by 71 percent in the fiscal year.

This allowed us to significantly increase the number of engi-
neers and scientists needed to focus on the development of
ground-breaking product concepts and to accelerate the cycle
for pioneering new technologies. 

We made progress over the year working with our part-
ner, Passport Systems, in meeting the requirements of the
Department of Homeland Security’s Domestic Nuclear

BORDER OFFICIALS SEIZE MORE THAN

$850,000 HIDDEN IN A VEHICLE

The ZBV played an integral role in an October 2007 seizure of
$850,000. The Z Backscatter scans revealed an anomaly in the rear
quarter panel and bumper of a Toyota RAV4 awaiting export to 
Haiti. Upon physical inspection, border officials found the currency
hidden in tightly packed plastic bundles.



Detection Office (DNDO) for the Cargo Advanced
Automated Radiography System program. We look forward
to our continued work with the DNDO on this very signifi-
cant project.

Governance succession

Not long after the new fiscal year began, we learned of the pass-
ing of our Board Chairman, General William E. Odom, at age
75, on May 30, 2008. General Odom was elected to the
Board in September 1996 and began serving as Chairman in
September 1998. He has left all who have known and worked
with him a great legacy of vibrant, wise, and spirited leadership.
As Chairman, General Odom deftly steered the Company
through pivotal times, and his significant contributions made
a very positive impact on Company performance.

In accordance with an existing succession plan, the Board
named Denis R. Brown as its new Chairman. Named to
AS&E’s Board of Directors in June 2004, Mr. Brown is cur-
rently a private investor and advisor to a start-up software
company serving the idea management market. He has had a
long and distinguished career as a top executive in defense tech-

nology and commercial manufacturing that began in 1970,
after his service as a U.S. Naval officer. We are fortunate to have

someone with Mr. Brown’s extensive leadership credentials to
serve as Chairman.

Focused on the future

In fiscal year 2008 — the final year of our four-year turnaround
plan — we began to clearly see how our efforts toward creat-
ing a “new” AS&E have been bearing fruit. We met and even

exceeded several significant milestones. We developed a more
diversified product line. We achieved record international
sales. And at the close of FY 2008, AS&E products can now

be found in 137 countries around the world. Our newest prod-
ucts continue to gain worldwide acceptance, and our propri-
etary Z Backscatter imaging technology continues to gain
international recognition as the best-in-class solution for detect-

ing explosive threats and contraband. 
There is much to be confident about, both in the short and

long term, as we continue to pursue our strategic plan of devel-
oping and innovating world-class security detection systems.

On behalf of AS&E’s management team and our Board of
Directors, thank you for your support in 2008. Our Company
continues on a strong and dynamic path, and we look forward
to even more notable successes in the coming years. 

Anthony R. Fabiano
President and CEO
American Science and Engineering, Inc.
August 2008
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AS&E CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS 
We... strive to foster a culture of honesty and accountability. Our commitment to the highest level of ethical conduct should be 
reflected in all of the Company’s business activities ... One of our Company’s most valuable assets is our reputation for integrity, 
professionalism, and fairness. We ... recognize that our actions are the foundation of our reputation and adhering to this Code 
and applicable law is imperative. (To review the complete Code, please go to “Investor Information” on our Web site, www.as-
e.com.) 

 
AS&E VALUES  
People   The men and women of AS&E are the core of our success. We value and respect each individual regardless of their race, 
religion, ethnic background, or position in the company. We value a fair and safe environment where each of us can perform to 
the best of our ability. We recognize that we are all engaged in this enterprise together — each of us an individual, all of us a 
team. 

Shareholders   Our shareholders have entrusted us with building a company that will deliver superior growth over time. We value 
the vision, leadership, and sound business practices that result in profitable growth. We will build our reputation by executing 
crisply and conducting all business dealings to the highest ethical standards. 

Customers   We are customer focused. They are the reason for our existence. We strive to provide technologically advanced 
products and services to meet and exceed our customers’ expectations for capability, quality, and price. We listen carefully to what 
our customers tell us and respond with innovation and best-in-class support. 

Operations   We value teamwork and lean, efficient operations. We value clear roles and responsibilities that enable accountability 
and the ability to adapt quickly to change throughout our Company. We will continuously improve our products by pro-actively 
designing in quality upfront. We value professionalism, productivity, and personal safety in all operations. 
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None 
 

Indicate by checkmark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act:  Yes  No  
 

Indicate by checkmark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act:  Yes  No  
 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing 
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Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the 
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September 30, 2007 was $546,583,000. 
 
8,768,257 shares of registrant’s common stock were outstanding on May 28, 2008. 
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT 
 

 This Annual Report and the documents incorporated by reference contain forward-looking statements.  For this purpose, any 
statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements.  Without 
limiting the foregoing, the words “believes”, “anticipates”, “plans”, “expects”, “should” and similar expressions are intended to 
identify forward-looking statements.  The factors discussed under “Item 1A. Risk Factors”, among others, could cause actual 
results to differ materially from those indicated by forward-looking statements made herein and presented elsewhere by 
management from time to time.  We expressly disclaim any obligation to update or alter our forward-looking statements, whether 
as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law. 
 
 All references in this Annual report to “AS&E”, the “Company”, “we”, “our” and “us” means American Science and 
Engineering, Inc. and its subsidiary. 
 
PART I 
 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS 
 
 American Science and Engineering, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation formed in 1958, develops, manufactures, markets, and 
sells X-ray inspection and other inspection solutions for homeland security and other targeted markets.  AS&E® provides 
maintenance, warranty, research, engineering, and training services related to these solutions. 
 
 The Company manufactures sophisticated X-ray inspection products that can be used to inspect parcels, baggage, vehicles, 
pallets, cargo containers, and people.  The Company sells its products in the United States and throughout the world to a variety 
of customers, including: 

• Authorities responsible for port and border security 

• Aviation security agencies 

• Military organizations; and 

• High threat commercial and government facilities 
 
AS&E’s products are used by these customers to help combat terrorism, trade fraud, drug trafficking, weapons smuggling, and 
illegal immigration.  Our products are also used for military force protection and general facility security. 
 
 Beginning with the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001, and continuing with the proliferation of global terrorism, 
homeland security and force protection concerns have become of paramount importance in the United States and around the 
world. The Company believes that homeland defense, force protection and military security initiatives will continue to provide 
new revenue opportunities, with additional growth in the seaports and borders, federal and military facilities, and corporate 
security markets. 
 
 The Company’s objective is to distinguish itself from its competitors by offering innovative products which provide superior 
threat detection. To achieve this, AS&E incorporates a variety of X-ray imaging and image processing technologies into its 
products.  A number of the Company’s products use our patented Z Backscatter™ technology.  Z Backscatter is a unique X-ray 
imaging technique that has distinct advantages for the detection of organic or low atomic number (Z) materials such as plastic 
explosives, composite weapons, and illegal drugs even when concealed by complex backgrounds.  
 
Technology 
  
 The Company’s X-ray imaging products utilize several technologies including traditional transmission X-ray technology, our 
proprietary Z Backscatter technology, Shaped Energy technology and Radioactive Threat Detection (RTD). 
 
 X-ray imaging devices contain these basic subsystems: X-ray sources, detectors, and software.  The source generates an X-ray 
beam that is directed at the object to be scanned (baggage, container, etc.).  When the source X-rays encounter the object, they are 
either absorbed by the object, pass directly through the object, or scatter off of the object.  Dense (high atomic number) materials 
tend to absorb X-rays.  Materials that are less dense (low atomic number) tend to scatter X-rays.  The detectors record the 
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intensity of the transmitted or scattered X-rays.  Software is then used to interpret the signals from the detectors and to construct 
and display X-ray images. 
 
 Transmission X-ray Technology:  Transmission images are created from X-rays that pass through the object that is being 
examined.  Medical X-ray images are a type of transmission X-ray.  In transmission imaging, the detector measures the relative 
intensity of the X-rays that pass directly through the object.  The degree to which X-rays are transmitted through an object is 
dependant upon the size of the X-ray source and the composition and quantity of the material in the path of the X-ray beam.  
Low energy sources are used to scan smaller objects such as parcels and baggage, and high energy sources are used for scanning 
large items such as trucks and cargo containers.  Transmission X-ray images are useful for seeing “through” the object of interest.  
A transmission image, however, represents an aggregate of all objects in the path on the beam and can therefore be difficult to 
interpret.  
 
 Z Backscatter Technology:   Most of the Company’s X-ray systems utilize AS&E’s patented Z Backscatter technology.  The 
term “Backscatter” refers to those X-rays that scatter off of the object under examination back toward the X-ray source.  Z 
Backscatter detectors capture these scattered X-rays which are then used to create highly readable, photo-like images.   
 
 Many threat items are organic in nature and have low atomic numbers.  Such items include drugs, explosives, composite 
weapons, and stowaways.  These items tend to scatter X-rays much more so than inorganic materials like steel and other metals.  
As a result, these organic threat items tend to stand out as bright, visible objects when scanned by a Z Backscatter imaging system. 
 
 Z Backscatter images complement transmission images and several of the Company’s products employ both technologies.  
The combination of backscatter and transmission images gives security officials more information about the contents of the 
baggage or container by differentiating dense materials, such as metals, from low-Z materials such as explosives.  In addition, the 
two images enable an inspector to perform a quicker and more thorough examination of the object in question. 
 
 Other Technologies:   Two other technologies employed by AS&E are Shaped Energy and Radioactive Threat Detection 
(RTD).  Shaped Energy technology is a specialized form of high energy transmission X-ray which is used in AS&E’s OmniView 
product line. Radioactive Threat Detection (RTD) is a technology which is used to find radioactive materials in vehicles. 
 
Products and Systems 
 
 The Company’s products and services can be grouped into six different areas including CargoSearch™ Inspection Systems, Z 
Backscatter Systems, ParcelSearch™ Inspection Systems, Personnel Inspection, Contract Research and Development, and Service 
and Support.  
 
 CargoSearch™ Inspection Systems: The CargoSearch family of systems includes non-intrusive inspection products which are 
primarily used for the screening of trucks, cars, cargo containers, pallets, and air cargo at locations including border crossings, 
seaports, military bases, railroad centers, airports, and cargo and transportation hubs. The CargoSearch systems are designed to 
combat trade fraud, drug trafficking, weapons smuggling, and terrorism. The CargoSearch family includes: 
 

 OmniView™ Gantry System:  a multi-view, relocatable high-energy cargo and vehicle inspection system.  This system 
combines 6 MeV high-energy transmission imaging and three Z Backscatter X-ray views for left, right and top-side imaging of 
cargo.  OmniView provides side and top-down views of the cargo in a relocatable configuration. OmniView utilizes AS&E’s 
patented Shaped Energy™ technology to penetrate densely loaded cargo containers. Shaped Energy “shapes” the high energy 
spectrum to filter out non-essential radiation, making the system safe for operators and staff.  High energy 6.0 MeV 
transmission X-rays can penetrate 14 inches (35 cm) of steel or 8.5 feet (260 cm) of oil, yet doesn’t require heavy shielding, an 
exterior building, or standoff zones.   The Z Backscatter images are ideal for the detection of organic or “low Z” materials 
including explosives, drugs, alcohol, and tobacco that transmission X-rays alone can miss. The System’s multiple Z Backscatter 
views of the cargo improve detection while facilitating interpretation of the X-ray image.  The OmniView Gantry System’s 
scanning platform operates by moving on rails past stationary vehicles and cargo.  The system is bi-directional allowing for a 
throughput of approximately 25 trucks per hour.  OmniView Gantry is ideal for ports, borders, and high-threat military 
facilities.  

 
 Z Portal®:  a multi-view, high throughput, drive-through inspection system capable of scanning cars, vans, trucks, and 

their cargoes for threats and contraband.  The relocatable screening system can be configured with one, two or three Z 
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Backscatter X-ray detectors, allowing for left, right and/or top-side imaging of the vehicle under examination.  The images 
produced by the Z Portal are ideal for the detection of organic materials including explosives, drugs, alcohol, tobacco, and 
stowaways.  The Z Portal is well-suited for scanning vehicles at border crossings, high threat facilities, and other vehicle entry 
checkpoints. 

 
 PalletSearch™:  a conveyorized X-ray inspection system designed to perform non-intrusive inspection of mixed cargo 

shipped on large pallets or in air cargo containers.  The system is especially useful for inspecting large, irregularly shaped 
containers and cargo. 

 
 Z Backscatter Systems:  Z Backscatter Systems include imaging systems that use Z Backscatter imaging only. 
 
   Z Backscatter Van™ (ZBV): a mobile X-ray screening system built into a commercially available chassis.  It utilizes Z 

Backscatter X-ray technology to produce photo-like images of the contents of a vehicle or cargo container, highlighting organic 
materials such as plastic explosives or other anomalies. With one-sided, backscatter-only imaging, security officials can use 
ZBV for screening vehicles, sea containers, and other cargo for terrorist threats, trade fraud, and contraband, simply by driving 
past the objects.   The ZBV can be equipped with Radioactive Threat Detection (RTD) capability.  With RTD, the ZBV can 
produce Z Backscatter images for general screening while simultaneously scanning the object for the presence of radioactive 
material.  The ZBV is available in several versions, including a militarized trailer configuration (ZBV Mil Trailer) that is 
designed for use by the U.S. military. 

 
 ParcelSearch™ Inspection Systems: ParcelSearch systems are designed for the non-intrusive X-ray scanning of parcels, baggage, 
and mail. These systems are primarily located in government facilities, airports, commercial office buildings, high-security federal 
facilities and convention centers. ParcelSearch systems include: 
 

Gemini™:  Gemini is a parcel and baggage inspection system which combines AS&E’s Z Backscatter technology with 
Dual-energy transmission X-ray to provide enhanced detection for a wide range of threats.  Dual-energy transmission is best 
suited for the detection of threats such as guns and knives, and for identifying wires and other components of improvised 
explosive devises (“IEDs”). It also provides some organic and metallic discrimination in uncluttered environments.  Z 
Backscatter imaging provides enhanced detection of organic materials such as explosives and narcotics, which may be missed 
by transmission-only systems in cluttered baggage.  In addition, the complementary photo-like Z Backscatter image makes it 
easier for security officers to interpret images, thus reducing analysis time and minimizing operator fatigue. 

 
Model 101VAN™: a self-contained conveyor-based parcel inspection system housed in a standard van; designed and built 

to the rigorous specifications of U.S. Customs and Border Protection. 
 
Models 101Z™, 101ZZ™, and 101XL™: conveyor-based systems allowing rapid inspection of high volumes of luggage and 

other packages. 
 
 Personnel Screening:  Personnel screening is a crucial part of any threat detection effort.  Today, threats can take the smallest 
of forms and are often easily hidden on a person.  With the advent of suicide bombings, personnel screening has taken on an even 
more important role.  Personnel screening is also important in the effort to intercept prohibited substances, such as drugs and 
alcohol.  
 
   SmartCheck™:  a personnel screening system for the effective screening for contraband and threats hidden under a 

person’s clothing.  SmartCheck simultaneously detects both metallic and non-metallic objects, such as guns and knives, plastic 
explosives, liquid explosives, composite weapons, drugs and other hidden threats and contraband.  Its Z Backscatter image 
gives the operator an easy-to-read display of where the threat or contraband is hidden, thus eliminating the need for intrusive 
and time-consuming pat-downs and strip searches.  SmartCheck employs proprietary advanced image processing algorithms to 
enhance privacy, while maintaining a high level of threat detection. 

 
 Contract Research & Development:  AS&E engages in a variety of contract research and development (CRAD) programs, 
mostly for agencies of the U.S. government.  AS&E pursues CRAD opportunities which it believes provide avenues for advancing 
our core technologies or developing product offerings for strategic customers or markets.   
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 Service and Support:   AS&E's highly skilled Field Service Engineers (FSEs) provide support services worldwide. Each FSE 
has a technical degree in Electrical and/or Mechanical Engineering (or equivalent experience), and is trained in the operation and 
repair of electronics, hydraulics, pneumatics, mechanics, electrical systems, and computers. FSEs are available 7 days a week, 24 
hours a day, and are located at AS&E offices in Asia, Central America, Europe, the Middle East, and North America.   In 
addition, Technical Support is provided at the Company’s headquarters in Billerica, Massachusetts. AS&E provides 
comprehensive, cost-effective spare parts solutions customized for each system.  The Company maintains an inventory of field-
replaceable components in order to meet customer needs for spare parts.  
 
 AS&E provides comprehensive technical training on all X-ray inspection systems. Our instructors specialize in current threat 
detection techniques and employ both classroom theory and hands-on training to help clients become expert users of AS&E 
equipment. Our technical training informs customers about detection technologies and best practices through demonstrations and 
field activities that simulate real-life threat and contraband encounters.  Technical training is included with each system sale and 
additional training for image analysis, service and maintenance training, and other customized training courses are provided 
aftermarket to interested customers. 
 
Intellectual Property 
 
 The Company relies on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, contract and trade secret laws to establish and protect 
its proprietary rights in its technology. The Company has patents either issued and/or pending in the United States, Germany, 
Japan, the United Kingdom, China, Austria, France, Ireland, Italy, Switzerland, Australia, Canada, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, 
Greece, Italy, Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, Turkey, Hong Kong, India, Israel, The Republic of Korea, New Zealand, 
Mexico, Norway, The Russian Federation, Ukraine, Singapore, United Arab Emirates, Malaysia, Thailand and Egypt, and under 
the Gulf Cooperation Council and the Patent Cooperation Treaty. 
 
 In general, the Company pursues a policy of obtaining patent protection both in the United States and in selected foreign 
countries for subject matter we consider patentable and important to our business strategy. The Company has 63 unexpired 
patents issued by, and 59 patent applications pending with, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, as well as with the respective 
patent offices of the foreign countries noted above. Over half of our issued patents have been issued in the last five years. 
 
 Generally, patents issued in the United States are effective for the longer of 17 years from the date of issue or 20 years from 
the earliest effective filing date of the corresponding patent application if filed prior to June 8, 1995. The duration of foreign 
patents varies in accordance with applicable local law. While the duration of our patents varies, we believe that the duration of our 
patents is adequate relative to the expected lives of our products. 
 
 The Company believes that its patents, proprietary technology, know-how, and trademarks provide substantial protection for 
the Company’s competitive position and the Company intends to aggressively protect its intellectual property assets, by litigation 
or other means, as appropriate. Nevertheless, there can be no assurances that the steps taken by the Company in this regard will be 
adequate to prevent misappropriation or infringement of its technology or that the Company’s competitors will not 
independently develop technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to the Company’s technology. Effective 
protection of intellectual property rights may be limited or unavailable in certain foreign countries. See “Item 3. Legal 
Proceedings” below. 
 
Sales and Marketing 
  
 The Company’s X-ray products are marketed to corporate and governmental organizations through a sales force that contacts 
potential customers and responds to public tenders and other expressions of interest. This sales force includes Company personnel 
based in the United States and abroad, as well as independent representatives under contracts to sell in foreign countries. 
 
Customers 
 
 The Company has a customer base consisting of government and commercial clients from both the United States and abroad. 
Domestically, the Company’s primary client base is comprised of agencies of the U.S. Government. Approximately 55%, 70%, 
and 77% of the Company’s total sales in fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively, were derived from either (i) contracting 
directly with the U.S. Government, or (ii) contracting with contractors working directly with the U.S. Government. Certain of 
the Company’s contracts with the U.S. Government provide the U.S. Government with the standard unilateral right to terminate 
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these contracts for convenience. To date, the Company has not experienced any material losses as a result of this contractual 
provision. The Company is heavily dependent upon sales to agencies of the U.S. Government and reductions or delays in 
procurement of the Company’s systems and services by these agencies may have a material adverse effect on the Company. 
 
 International sales, primarily to foreign governments, accounted for approximately 36%, 27%, and 14% of the Company’s 
total sales in fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006 respectively, and continue to be a high priority for the Company as part of its long-term 
growth strategy. International sales entail longer sales cycles and project financing requirements; however the Company continues 
to focus on these sales as a means of broadening its customer base and reducing its dependency on sales to the U.S. Government. 
The Company manages its overseas risk in a number of ways, including actively increasing the number of opportunities it is 
pursuing at any one time, working with international funding sources to help customers finance and secure funding of these 
projects, and obtaining downpayments and letters of credit to secure its international receivables. The majority of international 
contracts are bid in U.S. dollars. For those contracts that are bid in other currencies, the Company considers the need to engage in 
hedging contracts to control foreign exchange risk. There were no hedging activities in fiscal 2008, 2007, or 2006. 
 

In fiscal 2008, the Company had sales to two major customers, both agencies of the U.S. Government, which accounted for    
12% and 10% of total sales.  In fiscal 2007, the Company had sales to two major customers, both agencies of the U.S. 
Government, which accounted for 31% and 15% of total sales.  In fiscal 2006, these same customers accounted for 26% and 
30% of total sales.  

 
Competition 
 
 The Company has many competitors in the homeland security X-ray detection market, including several large and well-
established manufacturers of security equipment with financial and other resources greater than those of the Company. Certain X-
ray security system customers select such systems based largely on price. Other customers, including some agencies of the U.S. 
Government and certain users in countries with high levels of concern over security, tend to select systems based largely on 
detection capability.  Many of the Company’s systems offer premium performance and have in some cases been priced higher 
than many competing systems. The Company believes that its patented and proprietary technology give it a strong competitive 
position in the sale of security systems to customers concerned with performance and detection. The Company also believes that 
its strategy of concentrating on products with unique features, including Z Backscatter and Shaped Energy, and/or competitive 
pricing will give it a strong position to increase its sales of X-ray systems. However, a number of companies have developed 
products that compete with the Company’s X-ray inspection products. (See “Forward-Looking Information and Factors Affecting 
Future Performance”) 
 
ISO 9001 Certification 
 
 In August 2006, the Company‘s Quality Management System was recertified under the ISO 9001:2000 Standard of the 
International Organization for Standardization which it has been registered under since 2003.  ISO 9001 is an internationally 
recognized quality management and assurance standard. 
 
 In qualifying, the Company met or exceeded the standards for establishing a quality management system for preventing non-
conformity at every level of the product life cycle, from customer order, through development and production, to installation and 
support. 
 
 The Company believes that demonstrating continuous quality improvement is vital for building customer satisfaction and 
making business processes more efficient in order to increase its competitive edge. 
 
Component Availability 
 
 Critical material and subsystems are procured from both domestic suppliers as well as internationally from global supply 
partners.  These supply sources are in some cases single sources of supply and the material provided can have extended lead times.  
In response to expanding customer demand in the global security screening market, the Company has taken steps to mitigate 
sourcing risks by working closely with its suppliers to ensure future material and subsystem availability to support its production 
plans. In some cases, the Company has chosen to stock reserve material to ensure future availability. Efforts have also included 
identifying and qualifying second source suppliers for critical material and a number of key subsystems in support of its product 
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lines. The Company does not expect to experience sustained difficulties in securing required material and subsystems to support 
its forward business operations.    
 
Regulatory Compliance 
 
 AS&E complies with applicable federal regulations under Title 21 CFR Subchapter J - Radiological Health.  All AS&E 
cabinet X-ray products comply with all applicable U.S. Government radiation safety performance standards including 21 CFR 
1020.40. All personnel inspection systems of AS&E comply with the voluntary consensus radiation safety standards adopted by 
the American National Standards Institute ANSI N43.17-2002. 
 
Research and Development 
 
 The Company spent approximately $12,306,000 of its own funds for research and development during fiscal 2008, compared 
to $7,184,000 and $9,601,000 in fiscal 2007 and 2006, respectively. The fiscal 2008 research and development efforts were 
focused on design modifications and enhancements to existing products, the development of new applications and the 
development of new products. 
 
 In addition, the Company conducted government-sponsored research primarily focused on advances in X-ray systems, image 
analysis and integrated system development for niche security inspection problems. The Company recognized revenues of 
$13,978,000, $6,597,000, and $2,804,000 in fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively for these efforts. Many of the Company’s 
government sponsored research and development contracts provide for a fixed fee or a reimbursement of allowable costs plus a 
fixed fee. The Company’s contracts in these areas are obtained by submitting research and development proposals to various 
organizations, sometimes in response to requests for such proposals. 
 
Personnel 
 
 As of March 31, 2008 the Company had 346 employees as compared to 299 employees at March 31, 2007.   It is the 
Company’s policy to have employees sign nondisclosure agreements as a condition of employment. None of the Company’s 
employees are represented by labor unions. 
 
Sales Backlog 
 
 The Company’s firm (signed contracts) sales backlog was $99,606,000, $105,634,000, and $68,840,000 at March 31, 2008, 
March 31, 2007, and March 31, 2006, respectively. 
 
 Certain of the Company’s contracts with the U.S. Government contain clauses permitting the government to terminate the 
contract for convenience upon certain terms and conditions, including partial payment to the Company for work performed. 
Total contracts with U.S Government agencies and subcontractors in the backlog were $42,640,000, $58,833,000, and 
$30,058,000, at March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. It is estimated that approximately 77% of the 2008 backlog will 
be filled within the fiscal year ending March 31, 2009. 
 
 
Financial Information about Foreign and Domestic Operations and Export Sales 
 
 Most export sales are transacted in U.S. dollars, and most are either secured by irrevocable letters of credit or paid in advance. 
The following table shows the breakdown of net sales and contract revenues to international and domestic customers and the 
major regions of international activity based upon customer’s country of domicile. All assets are maintained within the United 
States with the exception of inventory depots, inventory in transit or awaiting installation and cash accounts maintained at foreign 
locations (approximately 4% of the Company’s assets). 
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Net Sales and Contract Revenues 
 Fiscal Year 
 
(Dollars in thousands)  2008 2007 2006 
   
Domestic $  107,021 64%  $ 111,335       73% $ 141,491 86% 
International     59,712      36%    41,851       27%     22,113 14% 
 
Net Sales and Contract Revenues $   166,733 100% $  153,186 100%  $ 163,604 100% 

Percent of International Revenue by Major Region: 
 Middle East & Africa  70% 66% 50% 
 Pacific Rim 14% 20% 37% 
 Europe 14% 14% 11% 
 All Other 2% —% 2% 
 
Available Information 
 
 The Company’s principal executive offices are located at 829 Middlesex Turnpike, Billerica, MA 01821; telephone number 
978-262-8700; corporate website www.as-e.com. We make available, free of charge through our website, our annual Form 10-K, 
current reports on Form 10-Q and Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as practicable. In addition, our reports, proxy and information statements and other 
information filed with the SEC are available at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Room 1580, Washington, 
DC 20549 (1-800-SEC-0330), and are also available from the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. 
 
 
ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS 
 
 You should carefully consider the following risk factors, in addition to other information included in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K and other reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  If any of the following risks occur, the 
Company’s business, financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected. 
 
The Company’s reliance on a small number of customers for a large portion of its revenues could harm its business and 
prospects. 
 
 The Company’s business is dependent on sales to a small number of customers, which include agencies of the United States 
government. During fiscal 2008, two customers accounted for 22% of the Company’s total revenues. During fiscal 2007, two 
customers accounted for 46% of the Company’s total revenues, and during fiscal 2006, two customers accounted for 56% of the 
Company’s total revenues. Certain of the Company’s government contracts may be terminated at the government’s discretion. 
The termination of the Company’s relationship with one or more of its significant customers or the reduction or delay of orders 
of its systems by these customers would substantially reduce the Company’s revenues, and its business and prospects may be 
harmed. 
 
The Company conducts its business worldwide, which exposes it to a number of difficulties in coordinating its 
international activities and dealing with multiple regulatory environments. 
 
 The Company’s revenues to international customers, including foreign governments, accounted for approximately 36%, 27% 
and 14% of its net revenues for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2008, March 31, 2007 and March 31, 2006, respectively, and a 
significant number of domestic customer orders require shipments to, and services provided in, overseas locations. In addition, the 
Company transacts business internationally with a number of its key suppliers. As a result of the Company’s worldwide business 
operations, it is subject to various risks, including: 

• international regulatory requirements and policy changes; 

• lengthy sales cycles; 

• longer payment cycles by foreign customers; 

• difficulties in inventory management, accounts receivable collection and the management of distributors or 
representatives; 
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• difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations; 

• geopolitical instability; 

• political and economic changes and disruptions; 

• favoritism towards local suppliers; 

• governmental currency controls; 

• interruption to transportation flow for delivery of parts to us and finished goods to our customers; 

• currency exchange rate fluctuations; and 

• tariff regulations. 
 
 Although the Company’s international sales have been denominated primarily in U.S. dollars, changes in currency exchange 
rates that increase the relative value of the U.S. dollar may make it more difficult for the Company to compete with foreign 
manufacturers on price or otherwise have a material adverse effect on its sales and operating results. 
 
The Company’s lengthy sales cycle requires it to incur significant expenses with no assurance that it will generate revenue 
or recover such expenses. 
 
 A substantial portion of the Company’s sales depends upon the decision of governmental agencies to upgrade or expand 
security at border crossing inspection sites, existing airports, seaports and other facilities. Accordingly, a portion of the Company’s 
product sales is subject to delays associated with the lengthy approval processes that often accompany such capital expenditures. 
During these approval periods, the Company expends significant financial and managerial resources in anticipation of future 
orders that may not occur. If the Company fails to receive an order after expending these resources, it may be unable to generate 
sufficient revenue to recover the costs incurred and its business and prospects may be harmed. 
 
The Company’s business is dependent upon governmental policies and appropriations. 
 

The Company’s largest customers are government agencies and demand for its products is dependent upon national priorities 
and governmental initiatives, including defense-related programs. These priorities and initiatives are subject to change from time 
to time in response to the economic and political environment.   The Company is also exposed to the United States budget 
approval and appropriation decisions and processes which are driven by numerous factors, including geo-political events and 
macroeconomic conditions, and are beyond our control. While the overall level of U.S. defense spending has increased in recent 
years for numerous reasons, including increases in funding of operations in Iraq and Afghanistan and the U.S. Department of 
Defense’s military transformation initiatives, we can give no assurance that such spending will continue to grow, or not be 
reduced. Significant changes in defense spending could have long-term consequences for our size and structure. In addition, 
changes in government priorities and requirements could impact the funding, or the timing of funding, of our programs which 
could negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition.   
 
Changes in governmental regulations may reduce demand for the Company’s products or increase its expenses. 
 
 The Company competes in markets in which the Company or its customers must comply with federal, state, local and foreign 
regulations, such as health and safety regulations. The Company develops, configures and markets its products to meet its 
customers’ needs created by these regulations. Any significant change in these regulations could reduce demand for the 
Company’s products or increase its costs to comply with new regulations, both of which may adversely affect its operating results. 
 
The Company’s reliance on a limited number of suppliers for some key components for its products could harm its 
business and prospects. 
 
 The Company relies on a number of suppliers to provide material and subsystems for our products. The Company is reliant 
on a number of key international supply partners for core technology products, including subsystems with complex sub-tier 
supply chains.  In addition, certain material or subsystems used in our products may be available from a sole source or limited 
number of suppliers, increasing the risk of supply disruption. Although our products may be able to be redesigned to avoid using 
any sole source supplier, it would be expensive and time consuming to make such a change. If the Company changes any of its 
suppliers, a qualification process would need to be completed and the affected product may require redesign, creating potential 
delays in product shipments. 
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 Some of our suppliers may allocate material due to market demand for the products they produce or market constraints such 
as the global availability of raw materials. We have no guaranteed supply arrangements with our suppliers and there can be no 
assurance that our suppliers will continue to meet our requirements. Many of our competitors are much larger and may be able to 
obtain priority allocations from these shared suppliers, thereby limiting or making our sources of supply unreliable for these 
components. If our supply of materials is disrupted, we cannot ensure that we would be able to find another supplier on a timely 
basis. 
 
 The Company depends on its subcontractors and suppliers to deliver material that is in full compliance with critical quality 
and specification requirements. Quality issues may affect the reliability and performance of our products, customer confidence, 
and adversely impact financial performance. Any difficulty in obtaining sufficient and timely delivery of conforming material 
could result in delays or reductions in product shipments that could materially and adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and consolidated results of operations. This in turn could also damage our reputation in the market and cause us to lose 
market share. The Company does not expect to experience sustained difficulties in securing required material and subsystems to 
support forward business operations.    
 
Fluctuations in the Company’s quarterly operating results may cause its stock price to fluctuate. 
 
 Given the nature of the markets in which the Company participates, it cannot reliably predict future revenue and profitability. 
A high proportion of the Company’s costs are fixed, due in part to its significant sales, research and development, and 
manufacturing costs. As a result of its fixed costs, small declines in revenue could disproportionately affect the Company’s 
operating results and stock price in a quarter. Factors that may affect the Company’s quarterly operating results and the market 
price of its common stock include: 

• demand for and market acceptance of its X-ray inspection systems; 

• lengthy sales cycles and the effect of large orders; 

• changes in political agendas or national priorities; 

• adverse changes in the level of economic activity in regions in which the Company does business; 

• political unrest in the regions where the Company transacts business; 

• adverse changes in industries on which the Company is particularly dependent; 

• competitive pressures resulting in lower selling prices for its products; 

• delays or problems in the introduction of new products; 

• the Company’s competitors’ announcement or introduction of new products, services or technological innovations; 

• variations in the Company’s product mix; 

• the timing and amount of the Company’s expenditures in anticipation of future sales; 

• increased costs of raw materials or supplies; and 

• changes in the volume or timing of product orders. 
 
The Company could incur substantial costs as a result of product liability claims and adverse publicity if its X-ray 
inspection systems fail to detect bombs, explosives, weapons, contraband or other threats to personal safety. 
 
 If the Company’s X-ray inspection systems fail to detect the presence of bombs, explosives, weapons, contraband or other 
threats to personal safety, the Company could be subject to product liability claims and negative publicity, which could result in 
increased costs, reduced sales, and a decline in the market price of the Company’s common stock. There are many factors beyond 
the Company’s control that could result in the failure of its products to detect the presence of bombs, explosives, weapons, 
contraband or other threats to personal safety. Examples of these factors include operator error or misuse of or malfunction of its 
equipment. The failure of the Company’s systems to detect the presence of these dangerous materials may lead to personal injury, 
loss of life, and extensive property damage and may result in potential claims against the Company. 
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The Company’s insurance may be insufficient to protect it from product liability claims. 
 
 The Company’s product liability and umbrella liability insurance may be insufficient to protect it from product liability 
claims. Moreover, there is a risk that product liability insurance will not continue to be available to the Company at a reasonable 
cost, if at all. If liability claims exceed the Company’s current or available insurance coverage, its business and prospects may be 
harmed. Regardless of the adequacy of the Company’s product liability insurance protection, any significant claim may have an 
adverse affect on its industry and market reputation, leading to a substantial decrease in demand for its products and reduced 
revenues. 
 
The Company may not be able to fund its research and development activities. 
 
 The Company generates funds for its research and development activities from operations, private sources and the 
government. The Company may be unable to generate the funds necessary to support its research and development activities if it 
does not generate sufficient funds from operations, other potential private sources, or the government. The Company may not 
successfully compete with other companies and research institutions for government funding and funding from other private 
sources. Additionally, government-funding priorities are subject to frequent changes. For example, in fiscal 2008, 2007, and 
2006, the Company recorded $13,978,000, $6,597,000 and $2,804,000, respectively, for government-sponsored research and 
development. There is no guarantee that the Company will receive funds for government-sponsored research in the future. If the 
Company is unable to fund its research and development activities through its operations or from outside sources, the Company 
may be unable to continue to innovate or bring its innovations to market on a timely or cost effective basis, or its innovations may 
be surpassed by other competitors or new technologies. 
 
The Company’s success depends on new product development. 
 
 The Company’s continuing research and development program is designed to develop new products and to enhance and 
improve its current products. The Company plans to expend significant resources on the development of its new products. The 
successful development of its products and product enhancements is subject to numerous risks, both known and unknown, 
including: 

• unanticipated delays; 

• access to capital; 

• budget overruns; 

• technical problems; and 

• other difficulties that could result in the abandonment or substantial change in the design, development and 
commercialization of new products and product enhancements, including for example, changes requested or required by 
governmental and regulatory agencies. 

 
 Given the uncertainties inherent with product development and introduction of X-ray inspection systems, the Company 
cannot assure that its product development efforts will be successful on a timely basis or within budget, if at all. The Company’s 
failure to develop new products and product enhancements on a timely basis or within budget would harm its business and 
prospects. 
 
The Company’s success depends upon its ability to adapt to rapid changes in technology and customer requirements. 
 
 The market for the Company’s products has been characterized by rapid technological changes, frequent product 
introductions and evolving industry standards and customer requirements. The Company believes that these trends will continue 
into the foreseeable future. The Company’s success will depend, in part, upon its ability to enhance its existing products, 
successfully develop new products that meet changing customer and regulatory requirements and gain market acceptance. If the 
Company fails to do so, its products may be rendered obsolete or uncompetitive by new industry standards or changing 
technology, in which case its revenue and operating results would suffer. In developing any new product, the Company may be 
required to make a substantial investment before it can determine the commercial viability of the new product. If the Company 
fails to accurately foresee its customers’ needs and future activities, it may invest heavily in research and development of products 
that do not lead to significant revenue. 
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The Company may not be able to compete successfully. 
 
 A number of companies have developed products that compete with the Company’s X-ray inspection products. Many of the 
Company’s competitors are larger and have greater financial resources than it does. Some of its competitors have more extensive 
research, marketing and manufacturing capabilities and greater technical and personnel resources than the Company does, and 
may be better positioned to continue to improve their technology in order to compete in an evolving industry. The Company's 
failure to compete successfully could decrease demand for its products or make its products obsolete. 
 
 In the inspection systems market, competition is based primarily on the following factors: 

•  product performance, functionality and quality; 

•  price; 

•  the overall cost of ownership of the system; 

•  prior customer relationships; 

•  technological capabilities of the product; 

•  certification by government authorities; 

•  local market presence; and 

•  breadth of the sales and service organization. 
 
 To remain competitive, the Company must develop new products and periodically enhance its existing products in a timely 
manner. The Company anticipates that it may have to adjust the prices of some of its products to stay competitive. In addition, 
new competitors may emerge, and entire product lines may be threatened by new technologies or market trends that reduce the 
value of these product lines. 
 
The Company's business could be harmed if it is unable to protect its intellectual property. 
 
 The Company relies primarily on a combination of trade secrets, patents, copyrights, trademarks, licensing arrangements and 
confidentiality procedures to protect its technology. Despite its precautions, the steps the Company has taken to protect its 
technology may be inadequate. Existing trade secret, patent, trademark and copyright laws offer only limited protection. The 
Company's patents could be invalidated or circumvented.  In addition, others may develop substantially equivalent or superseding 
proprietary technology, or competitors may offer equivalent products in competition with the Company’s products, thereby 
substantially reducing the value of the Company’s proprietary rights. The laws of some foreign countries in which the Company's 
products are or may be developed, manufactured or sold may not protect its products or intellectual property rights to the same 
extent as do the laws of the United States. This may make the possibility of piracy of the Company's technology and products 
more likely. The Company cannot assure that the steps it has taken to protect its intellectual property will be adequate to prevent 
misappropriation of its technology. The Company's inability to protect its intellectual property could have a negative impact on 
its operations and financial results. 
 
The Company’s business may be materially and adversely affected by infringement claims initiated by the Company or its 
competitors. 
 
 Initiating or defending against the enforcement of the Company’s intellectual property rights may result in significant, 
protracted, and costly litigation. The Company has previously been involved in various litigations involving its intellectual 
property and has been successful in protecting such interests to date. The Company expects intellectual property disputes to be an 
ordinary part of its business for the foreseeable future. The Company may initiate claims or litigation against third parties for 
infringement of its intellectual property rights, or to establish the validity of its property rights. There can be no assurance that the 
Company will prevail in any such action. Litigation by or against the Company could result in significant expense and divert the 
efforts of technical and management personnel, whether or not such litigation results in a favorable outcome for the Company. In 
the event of an adverse result in any such litigation, the Company could be required to pay substantial damages, cease the 
manufacture, use and sale of infringing products, expend significant resources to develop non-infringing technology, discontinue 
the use of certain processes, or obtain licenses for the infringing technology. If a license were required, the Company cannot assure 
that it would be able to obtain one on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. The Company cannot assure that it will be 
successful in developing non-infringing technology or that the cost or time required to develop such technology will be 
reasonable. 
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The Company’s success depends on its ability to attract and retain qualified management professionals. 
 
 The Company’s future success depends in large measure upon the continued contributions of its senior management team and 
other key personnel.  We cannot guarantee that we will be able to attract and retain key personnel or executive management in 
sufficient numbers, with the requisite skills or on acceptable terms necessary or advisable to support our continued growth.  If we 
lose professionals or are unable to attract new talent, we will not be able to maintain our position in the market or grow our 
business. 
 
Existing external financing may not be available in the future. 
 
 The Company may require additional capital to finance continuing operations. The Company cannot assure that operations 
will continue to be profitable, that it will generate levels of revenues and cash flows sufficient to fund operations, or, if necessary, 
that the Company will be able to obtain additional financing on satisfactory terms, if at all. Any existing financing arrangements 
may not be available or sufficient to meet the Company’s cash needs or may not be available in the future, or, if available, at a cost 
that the Company believes is reasonable. 
 
Future sales of the Company’s common stock by existing stockholders could depress the market price of the Company’s 
common stock. 
 
 Substantially all of the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock are freely tradable without restriction or further 
registration. Affiliates must sell all shares they own in compliance with the volume and other requirements of Rule 144, except for 
the holding period requirements. Nevertheless, sales of substantial amounts of common stock by the Company’s stockholders, or 
even the potential for such sales, may cause the market price of the Company’s common stock to decline and could impair the 
Company’s ability to raise capital through the sale of the Company’s equity securities. 
 
The volatility of the Company’s stock price could adversely affect an investment in the Company’s common stock. 
 
 The market price of the Company’s common stock has been, and may continue to be, highly volatile. The Company believes 
that a variety of factors could cause the price of the Company’s common stock to fluctuate, perhaps substantially, including: 

• announcements of developments related to the Company’s business; 

• quarterly fluctuations in the Company’s actual or anticipated operating results and order levels; 

• general conditions in the worldwide economy; 

• announcements of technological innovations; 

• new products or product enhancements by the Company or its competitors; 

• developments in patents or other intellectual property rights and litigation; and 

• developments in the Company’s relationships with its customers and suppliers. 
 
 In addition, in recent years the stock market in general, and the markets for shares of small capitalization and “high-tech” 
companies in particular, have experienced extreme price fluctuations which have often been unrelated to the operating 
performance of affected companies. Any such fluctuations in the future could adversely affect the market price of the Company’s 
common stock. 
 
Provisions in the Company’s articles of organization and the Company’s shareholder rights plan may have the effect of 
discouraging advantageous offers for the Company’s business or common stock, and limit the price that investors might 
be willing to pay in the future for shares of the Company’s common stock. 
 
 Provisions in the Company’s articles of organization and the Company’s shareholder rights plan may have the effect of 
discouraging or preventing a change in control. These provisions could limit the price that certain investors might be willing to 
pay in the future for shares of the Company’s common stock. Specifically, the Company’s articles of organization authorize its 
Board of Directors to issue up to 100,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series, to fix certain rights, preferences, 
privileges and restrictions granted to or imposed upon any wholly unissued shares of preferred stock, to fix the number of shares 
constituting any such series, and to fix the designation of any such series, without further vote or action by its shareholders. The 
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terms of any series of preferred stock, which may include priority claims to assets and dividends and special voting rights, could 
adversely affect the rights of the holders of common stock and thereby reduce the value of the Company’s common stock. The 
Company has no present plans to issue shares of preferred stock. The Company has in place a shareholder rights plan, which was 
renewed in April of 2008, under which its stockholders are entitled to purchase shares of its preferred stock under certain 
circumstances. These circumstances include the purchase of 15% or more of the outstanding shares of common stock by a person 
or group, or the announcement of a tender or exchange offer to acquire 15% or more of the outstanding common stock. The 
shareholder rights plan may have the effect of impeding or preventing certain types of transactions involving a change in control 
of the Company that could be beneficial to the stockholders. 
 
ITEM 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 
 
 There are no unresolved written comments that were received from the SEC staff 180 days or more before the end of our 
fiscal year relating to our periodic or current reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 
 
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 
 
 The Company leases an 188,000 square foot facility located in Billerica, Massachusetts which is owned by an unaffiliated real 
estate limited partnership and serves as the Company’s executive offices, research, manufacturing and warehouse facilities.  The 
lease expires on February 29, 2016. The Company believes that its facilities are adequate and provide sufficient production 
capacity for its present intended purposes. The Company’s facilities are currently utilized primarily on a one-shift basis. The 
Company is able to add additional capacity by adding second and third shifts if necessary. 
 
 The Company’s former High Energy Systems division had leased 24,733 square feet of manufacturing, research and 
development, and office space in Mountain View, California. The lease commenced on February 1, 2004 and had an initial term 
of seven years with an option to extend for an additional five-year period. In January 2005, as part of the asset sale agreement with 
Accuray, Incorporated, the Company assigned its rights and obligations under this lease to Accuray. The Company is secondarily 
liable for the lease payments in the event of default by Accuray. 
 
ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 
 On October 3, 2007, the Company commenced litigation in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of 
Virginia against AutoClear, LLC, and its affiliates Control Screening, LLC, and Scan-Tech Security, LP, for infringement of the 
Company’s United States Patent No. 5,313,511, seeking damages and injunctive relief. The parties have recently begun discovery 
in this matter. 
 
 On September 4, 2007, the Company received a notice from the United States Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) 
that it may potentially be liable for certain costs related to the proposed clean-up at the Sutton Brook Disposal Area Superfund 
Site located in Tewksbury, Massachusetts. The Company is one of approximately 45 entities identified by the EPA as a 
Potentially Responsible Party (“PRP”) in connection with alleged historical disposal of waste materials for the period from 1958 
through the mid-1980s, the timeframe under investigation by the EPA. The Company has denied liability, and has initiated 
participation in the global negotiation and settlement processes with the EPA and with other PRPs. Such negotiation processes are 
ongoing. 
 
 The Company is also subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business.  At the 
present time, it is not possible to predict the outcome of these matters; however, the Company currently believes that resolving 
these matters will not have a material adverse impact on its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. 
 
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 
 
 No matter was submitted to a vote of the Company’s security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year covered by 
this report. 
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PART II 
 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE COMPANY’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND 
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 
 
Market Information  
 
 Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol ASEI. The market price range for the 
common stock for the last two fiscal years as reported on the NASDAQ National Market is as follows: 

 
Fiscal Year Quarter Ended  High   Low 
 
2008 March 31, 2008 $ 57.99 $ 47.16 
  December 31, 2007 $ 67.14 $ 46.00 
  September 30, 2007 $ 73.40 $ 54.55 
  June 30, 2007 $  57.71 $ 46.67 
 
2007 March 31, 2007 $ 60.45 $ 49.78 
  December 31, 2006 $ 71.22 $ 44.86 
  September 30, 2006 $ 61.97 $ 36.03 
  June 30, 2006 $  93.53 $ 51.00 
 
Holders  
 
As of May 28, 2008, there were approximately 744 holders of record of the Company’s common stock. 
 
Common Stock Dividends 
 

During fiscal 2008, the Board of Directors approved a cash dividend plan for 2008.   Common stock cash dividends declared 
during the year ended March 31, 2008 were as follows:  

Date Declared 
 Dividend per 

common share 
August 6, 2007                 0.20 
November 5, 2007                   0.20 
February 11, 2008                   0.20 
Total  $                0.60 

 
On May 13, 2008, the Company declared another quarterly dividend of $0.20 for holders of record on May 19, 2008 to be 

paid June 6, 2008. No cash dividends were declared during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2007.  The Company has received 
consent from its bank for these dividends as its credit facility restricts the payment of dividends (except in shares of the 
Company’s stock).  Future dividend payments will depend on our earnings, capital requirements, financial condition and capital 
needs and other factors considered relevant by our Board.  
 
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans 
 
 The following table provides information about the Company’s stock option plans and the common stock that may be issued 
upon the exercise of options and rights under all existing equity compensation plans as of March 31, 2008. 
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 Number of securities to be  Number of securities 
 issued upon exercise of Weighted-average remaining available for future  
 outstanding options exercise price of  issuance under equity  
 and rights as of outstanding options compensation plans as of 
 March 31, 2008 and rights March 31, 2008 (excluding  
Plan category  (a) (b) securities reflected in column(a))
     
        
   
Equity compensation plans 
  approved by security holders: 
1995 Combination Plan  13,566 $ 15.28  — 
1999 Combination Plan  51,560 $ 19.74  — 
2000 Combination Plan  79,524 $ 32.09  — 
2002 Combination Plan  130,974 $ 29.08  — 
2003 Stock Plan for  
  Non-Employee Directors  116,485 $ 40.73  — 
2005 Equity and Incentive Plan  471,322  $ 42.43  143,641
  
Equity compensation plans 
  not approved by security holders: 
1997 Non-Qualified Option Plan  29,811 $ 26.11  — 
1998 Non-Qualified Option Plan  45,122 $ 31.59  —
  
Total  938,364 $ 36.80  143,641 
 
 
Purchases of Equity Securities 
 

On May 17, 2007, the Board of Directors approved a Stock Repurchase Program which authorized the Company to 
repurchase up to $35 million of shares of its common stock from time to time on the open market.  As of March 31, 2008, the 
maximum dollar value of shares that may yet be purchased under the program totaled $9,832,000.   

 
The following table provides information about our purchases during the quarter ended March 31, 2008 of equity securities 

that are registered by us pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act. 
 

2008 

Total 
Number of 

Shares 
Purchased 

Average Price 
Paid per Share 

Total Number of 
Shares Purchased 
as Part of Publicly 

Announced  
Programs 

January 1 – January 31 80,755 $             51.83 80,755 
February 1 – February 29 63,800 54.27 63,800 
March 1 – March 31 70,000 52.94 70,000 
Total 214,555 $              52.92 214,555 
 

 On May 8, 2008 the Board of Directors approved another Stock Repurchase Program which authorizes the Company to 
repurchase up to $35 million of shares of its common stock from time to time on the open market.   
 
Stock Performance Graph 
 

The following chart graphs the performance of the cumulative total return to shareholders (stock price appreciation plus 
dividends, if applicable) during the previous five years in comparison to the returns of the Standard & Poor’s 500 Composite 
Stock Price Index and the Standard & Poor’s 500 Information Technology Composite Stock Price Index. 
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Total Return to Shareholders 
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Note: Assumes $100 invested at the close of trading on the last trading day preceding the first day of the fifth preceding fiscal year 
(and reinvestment of dividends) in the Company’s common stock, Standard & Poor’s 500 Composite Stock Price Index and 
the Standard & Poor’s 500 Information Technology Composite Stock Price Index. 

 
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
 
The following selected financial data is qualified by reference to, and should be read in conjunction with, the consolidated 
financial statements, including the notes thereto, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations” included elsewhere in this Annual Report. 
 
   Fiscal Year    
(Dollars in thousands,  
except per share amounts) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 
 

Net sales and contract revenues $ 166,733 $ 153,186 $ 163,604 $ 88,314 $ 76,342 
Net income      17,478              24,610        29,786        11,185(1)  1,911 
Income per share—diluted  1.87  2.38  3.27     1.31   0.26 
Total assets     235,534  221,725  173,389  98,287   55,803 
Stockholders’ equity        166,072  167,698  130,198  61,570   38,433 
Dividends per common share  $         0.60 $ — $ — $ — $ — 
 

(1) Includes a gain of $5,442,000 on the sale of certain assets of the Company’s High Energy Systems division. 
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 
 
 The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto which 
appear elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements and should 
also be read in conjunction with the “Cautionary Statement” included at the beginning of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
 
2008 Compared to 2007 
 
        Overview    American Science and Engineering, Inc. develops and manufactures state-of-the-art X-ray inspection systems for 
homeland security and other critical defense applications. The Company's primary technologies are: (1) Z Backscatter technology 
which is used to detect plastic explosives, illegal drugs, and other contraband even when artfully concealed in complex 
backgrounds; and (2) Shaped Energy X-ray inspection systems which combine the material discrimination features of Z 
Backscatter with the penetration capability of high-energy X-rays for dense cargos. 
 
        Net sales and contract revenues for fiscal 2008 increased by 9% to $166,733,000 compared to fiscal 2007 revenues of 
$153,186,000. The Company reported net income before taxes of $27,485,000 in fiscal 2008 compared to a net income before 
taxes of $40,016,000 in the previous fiscal year. Net income for fiscal 2008 was $17,478,000 ($1.87 per share, on a diluted basis) 
as compared to a net income of $24,610,000 ($2.38 per share, on a diluted basis) in fiscal 2007. Backlog at March 31, 2008 was 
$99,606,000, a 6% decrease from the record-high year-end backlog of $105,634,000 reported at March 31, 2007.  This decrease 
in backlog is attributable primarily to revenues being earned on a significant CargoSearch order which was in backlog at March 
31, 2007. 
 
        Results of Operations    Total net sales and contract revenues of $166,733,000 in fiscal 2008 increased by $13,547,000 or      
9% from the previous year. Revenues related to product sales and contracts increased by $2,025,000 or 2% due to the following 
factors. CargoSearch system revenues increased by $16,346,000 due to higher order volume on products introduced in the past 
two years.  ParcelSearch system revenues increased by $7,446,000 due primarily to one large multi-unit order received during the 
year.  Contract research and development revenues also increased $5,805,000 from the prior year attributable primarily to one 
large contract which comprised 82% of overall contract research and development revenues.  These revenue increases were offset 
by a decrease in Z Backscatter System sales of $27,353,000 from the prior year attributable to a decrease in the number of units 
sold.  In each of the previous two years, Z Backscatter System contributed over 65% of overall product revenues.  The current 
year showed a shift in the product mix with a greater percentage of revenues being received by the Company’s other product 
offerings.  Service revenues increased in fiscal 2008 by $11,522,000 or 22% to $63,568,000 due primarily to certain new large 
service contracts received during fiscal 2008 for products sold in fiscal 2007 whose warranties expired during fiscal 2008. 
  
        In fiscal 2008, 64% of the Company's revenues were from domestic (based upon customer’s country of domicile) customers 
as compared to 73% in fiscal 2007. In fiscal 2008, the Company had sales to two customers which accounted for 22% of total 
sales. In fiscal 2007, the Company had sales to two major customers which accounted for 46% of total sales. 
 
        Cost of sales and contracts of $106,983,000 in fiscal 2008 increased by $20,336,000 or 23% from the previous year. Cost of 
product sales and contracts of $70,413,000 increased by $10,380,000 or 17% as compared to the prior year. Cost of product sales 
and contracts totaled 68% of revenues in fiscal 2008 as compared to 59% of revenues in fiscal 2007. This increase in costs as a 
percentage of revenue is due primarily to a decrease in the volume of shipments of higher margin Z Backscatter systems, and 
increase in revenue attributable to lower margin contract research and development and CargoSearch projects.  The cost of service 
revenues increased $9,956,000 or 37% from the prior year. Cost of service revenues totaled 58% of revenues in fiscal 2008 as 
compared to 51% of revenues in fiscal 2007.  This increase in costs as a percentage of revenue is due primarily to increased 
material required to support outstanding service contracts and increased overhead costs to support the increased international 
install base. 
 
        Selling, general and administrative expenses in fiscal 2008 decreased by $915,000 to $26,221,000 as compared to fiscal 2007 
and represented 16% of revenues in fiscal 2008 as compared to 18% of revenues in fiscal 2007. This decrease in spending can be 
attributed to decreases in incentive compensation costs ($3,567,000) related to the reduced bonuses and commissions earned 
during the period, decreases in stock compensation expense ($1,199,000), and decreases in marketing related costs ($560,000), 
offset by  increased salaries and payroll related costs ($1,450,000) as the Company increased its sales and marketing capabilities, 
the write-down of a note receivable from an unrelated third party ($1,608,000), increased travel related expenditures ($503,000) 
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and increased depreciation related to the building and ERP system and other IT costs associated with the ERP system placed in 
service during the year ($336,000). 
 
        Company-funded research and development spending increased by $5,122,000 to $12,306,000 in fiscal 2008, a 71% 
increase compared to the $7,184,000 spent in fiscal 2007.  Research and development spending represented 7% of revenues in 
fiscal 2008 as compared to 5% of revenues in fiscal 2007. Fiscal 2008 costs increased as the Company hired during fiscal 2008 
additional engineering resources to focus on the Company strategic development efforts.  The Company’s fiscal 2008 research and 
development activities focused on design modifications to its existing products and the development of product alternatives to 
continue to bring innovative products to its customers. 
 
        Other income (expense) was $6,262,000 in income in fiscal 2008 as compared to $7,797,000 in income in fiscal 2007. 
Interest income increased by $1,221,000 due to increased funds available for investment in higher return investment vehicles.  
During fiscal 2008, the Company recorded $11,000 in income related to the fair value mark to market charge associated with 
outstanding warrants. During fiscal 2007, this mark to market adjustment resulted in $2,270,000 in income.  All remaining 
outstanding warrants were exercised during the first quarter of fiscal 2008 and no future mark to market adjustments will be 
effected. 
 
        The Company reported pre-tax income of $27,485,000 in fiscal 2008 as compared to a pre-tax income of $40,016,000 in 
the previous fiscal year primarily due to the items noted above. The Company recorded income tax expense of $10,007,000 in 
fiscal 2008 as compared to $15,406,000 in the prior fiscal year.  The Company’s effective tax rate excluding the impact of the 
warrant income was 36% in fiscal 2008 as compared to 41% in fiscal 2007.  This decrease in rate can be attributed to a reduction 
in state income taxes due to increased international revenues during the year, a decrease in non-deductible stock compensation 
expense, and the increase in manufacturing and research and development credits available in the current year.   
 
        The Company reported net income of $17,478,000 in fiscal 2008 as compared to net income of $24,610,000 in fiscal 2007. 
 
2007 Compared to 2006 
 
        Results of Operations    Total net sales and contract revenues of $153,186,000 in fiscal 2007 decreased by $10,418,000 or 
6% from the previous year. Revenues related to product sales and contracts decreased by $26,936,000 or 21% due to the 
following:  Z Backscatter System sales decreased $17,262,000 from the prior year as the multi-unit orders received from the US 
Government in the prior year were not repeated in the current year.  Aftermarket part sales decreased $6,799,000 from the prior 
year and returned to more standard revenue levels.  The Company had received one large order in fiscal 2006 which had 
contributed to its high parts revenues in the prior year. Parcel system revenues also decreased by $5,138,000 from the prior year 
attributable primarily to a decrease in order volume in the year. These product revenue decreases were offset by a $3,806,000 
increase in contract research and development revenues as compared to the prior period attributable primarily to one large 
contract research and development contract received in the current year.  Service revenues increased in fiscal 2007 by $16,518,000 
or 46% to $52,046,000 due primarily to service contract revenues purchased for the shipments of systems in 2006 and 2007. 
 
        In fiscal 2007, 73% of the Company's revenues were from domestic customers as compared to 86% in fiscal 2006. In fiscal 
2007, the Company had sales to two customers which accounted for 46% of total sales. In fiscal 2006, the Company had sales to 
two major customers which accounted for 56% of total sales. 
 
        Cost of sales and contracts of $86,647,000 in fiscal 2007 increased by $1,241,000 or 1% from the previous year. Cost of 
product sales and contracts of $60,033,000 decreased by $5,341,000 or 8% as compared to the prior year. Cost of product sales 
and contracts totaled 59% of revenues in fiscal 2007 as compared to 51% of revenues in fiscal 2006. This decrease in gross margin 
is due primarily to $3,559,000 of stock-based compensation and a decrease in the volume of shipments of higher margin Z 
Backscatter systems.  The cost of service revenues increased $6,582,000 or 33% from the prior year. Cost of service revenues 
totaled 51% of revenues in fiscal 2007 as compared to 56% of revenues in fiscal 2006.  This margin improvement is due primarily 
to improved system performance of systems under service contracts as compared to the prior year. 
 
        Selling, general and administrative expenses in fiscal 2007 increased by $7,494,000 to $27,136,000 compared to fiscal 2006 
and represented 18% of revenues in fiscal 2007 as compared to 12% of revenues in fiscal 2006. This  increase in spending can be 
attributed to $5,035,000 of stock-based compensation expense, increases in incentive compensation costs ($473,000) related to 
the bonuses and commissions earned during the period, increased salaries and payroll related costs ($497,000) as the Company 
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increased its sales and marketing capabilities, increased marketing costs ($687,000),  increases in expenses related to the 
Company’s ongoing ERP system implementation project ($248,000), and increased legal expenditures ($534,000) related to legal 
costs incurred related to an abandoned acquisition and other corporate initiatives. 
 
        Company funded research and development spending decreased by $2,417,000 to $7,184,000 in fiscal 2007, a 25% change              
compared to the $9,601,000 spent in fiscal 2006.  Research and development spending represented 5% of revenues in fiscal 2007 
as compared to 6% of revenues in fiscal 2006.  Fiscal 2007 costs decreased as the engineering team focused on revenue related 
contracts including contract research and development engagements.  The Company’s fiscal 2007 research and development 
activities focused on design modifications to its existing products and the development of product alternatives to continue to 
bring innovative products to its customers. 
 
        Other income (expense) was $7,797,000 in income in fiscal 2007 as compared to $3,522,000 in expense in fiscal 2006. 
Interest income increased by $3,108,000 due to increased funds available for investment in higher return investment vehicles. In 
addition, the Company recorded $2,270,000 in income related to the fair value mark to market charge associated with 
outstanding warrants issued as part of a private placement of common stock in May of 2002. During fiscal 2006, this mark to 
market adjustment resulted in $6,094,000 in expense. 
 
        The Company reported pre-tax income of $40,016,000 in fiscal 2007 as compared to a pre-tax income of $45,769,000 in 
the previous fiscal year primarily due to the decreased revenues and expense increases noted above. The Company recorded 
income tax expense of $15,406,000 in fiscal 2007 as compared to $15,983,000 in the prior fiscal year.  The Company’s effective 
tax rate excluding the impact of the warrant (income) expense was 41% in fiscal 2007 as compared to 31% in fiscal 2006.  This 
increase in the rate can be attributed to the utilization of remaining net operating loss carry-forwards in fiscal 2006, the 
implementation of FAS 123(R) in fiscal 2007, and the reduction of certain tax credits in fiscal 2007.   
 
        The Company reported net income of $24,610,000 in fiscal 2007 as compared to net income of $29,786,000 in fiscal 2006. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
 Cash and cash equivalents at year-end decreased by $17,232,000 to $52,418,000 at March 31, 2008 as compared to 
$69,650,000 at March 31, 2007. Cash flow provided by operations of $17,339,000 resulted from the following: 
 

• Reported net income of $17,478,000 adjusted for the following non-cash items: 

o Depreciation and amortization of $4,123,000 which was $1,698,000 higher than the previous year due 
primarily to the depreciation of the Company’s building facilities and the depreciation of the ERP system 
which was placed in service in fiscal 2008. 

o Stock compensation expense of $5,314,000 

o The write-down of a note receivable from an unrelated third party of $1,608,000. 

o The amortization of bond discounts of $2,278,000. 

o An increase in deferred taxes related to the increased deferred revenue balances and stock compensation 
expense. 

• The increase in deferred revenue of $18,326,000 due to certain large service contracts which were billed at the outset 
of the contract period.  86% of the deferred revenue balance at March 31, 2008 is expected to be earned in fiscal 
2009. 

• The increase in accounts payable of $4,543,000 due to increased purchases in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. 

 
 These cash contributors were offset by the following: 
 

• An increase in inventories of $20,328,000 during the year.  This increase is due to the building of certain systems in 
advance of orders in order to meet anticipated order delivery deadlines, the introduction in the current year of the Z 
Portal systems which are higher cost systems recognized upon installation and/or acceptance as appropriate, the 
stocking of international inventory depots to support service contract requirements, and $4.4 million in inventory 
for two orders shipped but not yet accepted as of March 31, 2008. 
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• An increase in accounts receivable of $4,236,000 from the prior year due primarily to the timing of certain milestone 
billings and prepayments in the prior year. 

 
• The decrease in customer deposits of $5,007,000 as revenues were earned on certain milestones payments received in 

the prior year. 
 

 Net cash of $8,124,000 was used for investing activities in fiscal 2008. Fiscal 2008 capital expenditures totaled $3,270,000                        
versus $4,733,000 for fiscal 2007. Investments in fixed assets were comprised primarily of information technology expenditures, 
leasehold improvements related to the Company’s facilities expansion, and demo equipment. The Company invested 
$163,971,000 in short-term investments during the year, and had maturities of $159,725,000 on short-term investments. In 
addition, the Company paid $608,000 in exchange for a note receivable from an unrelated company which was subsequently 
written off in the third quarter of fiscal 2008. 

 
At March 31, 2008, short-term investments and cash equivalents were invested primarily in commercial paper, money market 

funds, corporate debentures and certificates of deposit.  The Company does not invest in auction rate securities.  Although 
management believes our investment policy is conservative in nature, certain short-term investments in commercial paper can be 
exposed the credit risk of the underlying companies to which they relate and interest earned on these investments is subject to 
interest rate fluctuations. The maturities within our investment portfolio generally range from 30 to 365 days.  
 
 Net cash used for financing activities was $26,436,000 in fiscal 2008. Cash was used primarily for the payment of 
$25,168,000 to repurchase 473,303 shares as part of the stock repurchase program announced in the first quarter of fiscal 2008.  
In addition, the Company issued three quarterly dividend payments totaling $5,516,000 during the year.  Cash provided by 
financing activities consisted primarily of the receipt of $3,029,000 in proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options. 
  
 On November 16, 2006, the Company modified its domestic loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank East 
which was scheduled to expire on November 29, 2006.  The Company increased its domestic facility from $5.0 million to $20.0 
million to support the Company’s routine working capital needs.  The Company’s $10.0 million export loan and security facility, 
guaranteed by the Export-Import Bank of the United States, expired as of November 29, 2006. The maximum amount available 
for borrowings under the domestic facility is (a) if the Company’s unrestricted cash is greater than or equal to $30.0 million, is 
$20.0 million minus the amount of all outstanding letters of credit less certain reserves, and minus the outstanding principal 
balance of any advances or (b) if the Company’s unrestricted cash is less than $30.0 million for a period of 30 consecutive days, 
the lesser of (i) the $20.0 million, or ii) 85% of eligible domestic accounts receivable minus the amount of outstanding letters of 
credits adjusted for certain reserves and minus the principal balance of any advances.  The modification of the domestic loan and 
security agreement extended this credit facility through November 14, 2008.   
  
 The credit facility bears an interest rate of the greater of 4.0% or the Silicon Valley Bank prime rate (5.25% at March 31, 
2008). The credit agreement is collateralized by certain assets of the Company and contains certain restrictions, including 
limitations on the amount of distributions that can be made to stockholders, and the disposition or encumbrances of assets, and 
requires the maintenance of certain financial covenants.  As of March 31, 2008, the Company was in compliance with these 
covenants. 
 
 At March 31, 2008, there were no borrowings outstanding against this credit facility.  Under the terms of the credit 
agreement, the Company was required to pay certain one-time facility fees which are being amortized over the life of the facility 
and is required to pay a fee of 0.50% quarterly on unused amounts under the line of credits.  Total expenses incurred related to 
these fees were $157,000, $201,000, and $172,000, in fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. 
 
 In the normal course of business, the Company may provide certain customers and potential customers with performance 
guarantees, which are generally backed by standby letters of credit. In general, the Company would only be liable for the amount 
of these guarantees in the event of default in the performance of our obligations, the probability of which is remote in 
management’s opinion.   As of March 31, 2008 the Company had outstanding $6,091,000 in stand-by letters of credit against the 
domestic facility with $13,909,000 remaining availability.   Of the outstanding letters of credit, $300,000 relates to the 
Company’s building lease and the remainder is guaranteeing performance on certain international projects.   No amounts have 
been drawn against these letters of credit. In addition at March 31, 2008, the Company had a restricted cash balance of 
$2,523,000 related to certain bank required deposits for outstanding letters of credits, bid bonds, and other bank-related fees. 
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 In recent years, the Company has funded its operations and capital expenditures with cash generated by operations, including 
deposits from customers on long-term projects and from proceeds received from stock issuances and option exercises. The 
Company currently has no amounts drawn on its line of credit and believes that its cash flows from operations, cash and 
investments on hand and available lines of credit are sufficient to meet the current and foreseeable operating requirements of the 
Company’s business. 
 
Contractual Obligations  The Company leases various office equipment and facilities under non-cancelable leases. In addition, in 
the normal course of business, the Company enters into purchase orders with its vendors for the purchase of materials or services 
to meet its production needs. The following table summarizes the Company’s contractual obligations as of March 31, 2008. 
 
(In thousands)     Total  Less than 1 year        1-3 years            3-5 years  After 5 years 
Recorded Contractual Obligations: 
Lease financing liability $ 10,674 $ 1,134 $ 2,465 $ 2,672 $ 4,403 
Other long-term obligations  61  17  35  9  — 
 
Unrecorded Contractual Obligations: 
Operating Leases  1,475  194  370  370  541 
Purchase Commitments  29,965  29,937  22  6  — 

Total $ 42,175 $ 31,282 $ 2,892 $ 3,057 $ 4,944  
 
 Inflation  The Company does not believe that inflation has had a material effect on its results of operations. There can be no 
assurance, however, that the Company’s business will not be affected by inflation in the future. 
 
Critical Accounting Policies 
 
 The Company considers certain accounting policies related to revenue recognition, inventories, allowances for obsolete and 
excess inventory, stock-based compensation, and income taxes to be critical policies due to the estimation processes involved in 
each. 
 
 Revenue Recognition:  The Company recognizes certain CargoSearch and Z Backscatter system sales and other product 
revenue, primarily ParcelSearch systems and after-market parts, in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin  (“SAB”)No. 
101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements modified by SAB No. 104 which requires that four basic criteria must be met 
before revenue can be recognized: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred or services rendered; 
(3) the fee is fixed and determinable; and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured. 
 
 Certain of the Company’s contracts are multiple-element arrangements, which include standard products, custom-built 
systems or contract engineering projects, services, such as training and service contracts. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task 
Force Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” (“EITF 00-21”) revenue arrangements that include 
multiple elements are analyzed to determine whether the deliverables can be divided into separate units of accounting or treated as 
a single unit of accounting. The consideration the Company receives is allocated among the separate units of accounting based on 
their relative fair values determined based on prices of these elements as sold on a stand-alone basis, and the applicable revenue 
recognition criteria are applied to each of the separate units. There is no customer right of return in the Company’s sales 
agreements.  Revenues are allocated to a delivered product or service when all of the following criteria are met: (1) the delivered 
item has value to the customer on a standalone basis; (2) there is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered 
item; and (3) if the arrangement includes a general right of return relative to the delivered item, delivery or performance of the 
undelivered item is considered probable and substantially in our control.  
 
 Revenues for certain long-term, custom-built systems or contract engineering projects are recognized on a percentage of 
completion basis. The lengths of these contracts typically range from 9 to 24 months from order to delivery and acceptance. 
Percentages-of-completion are determined by relating the actual costs of work performed to date for each contract to its estimated 
final costs. Revisions in costs and profit estimates are reflected in the period in which the facts causing the revision become 
known.  
 
 Training and service contracts deliverables are accounted for separately from the delivered product elements as the Company’s 
undelivered products have value to its customers on a stand-alone basis and the Company has objective and reliable evidence of 

36



 

the fair value of such services. Accordingly, service revenue representing the fair value of services not yet performed at the time of 
product shipment is deferred and recognized as such services are performed.  
 
 Certain contracts require payments from the customer upon execution of the agreement that are included in customer 
deposits. Individual customer deposits are reduced by the amount of revenue recognized on the contract until a zero balance is 
reached.  For all fixed price and long-term contracts, if a loss is anticipated on the contract, a provision is made in the period in 
which such losses are determined. 
 
      Under the terms of certain of its cost reimbursement contracts, the Company is not permitted to bill customers a specified 
portion of the contract value until completion. Such retainages   result from both commercial contract retentions and government 
contract withholdings generally for up to 15% of fees, as well as the difference between the actual and provisional indirect cost 
billing rates. Retainages are included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as components of unbilled costs and fees. 
The accuracy and appropriateness of the Company's direct and indirect costs and expenses under these cost reimbursement 
contracts and its accounts receivable recorded pursuant to such contracts, are subject to regulation and audit, including by the 
U.S.  Defense Contract Audit Agency ("DCAA") or by other appropriate agencies of the U.S. Government.  Such agencies  have 
the right to  challenge  the  Company's  cost  estimates  or allocations  with  respect  to any  government  contract.  Additionally, a 
portion of the payments to the Company under government contracts are provisional payments that are subject to potential 
adjustment upon audit by such agencies.  Historically, such audits have not resulted in any significant disallowed costs.  Although 
the Company can give no assurances, in the  opinion  of  management,  any  adjustments  likely to  result  from inquiries  or  
audits of its  contracts  will not have a  material  adverse impact on the Company's financial condition or results of operations. 
 
 The Company recognizes sales for its systems that are produced in a standard manufacturing operation, have minimal 
customer site installation requirements and have shorter order to delivery cycles when title passes and when other revenue 
recognition criteria are met. Management believes the customer’s post-delivery acceptance provisions and installation 
requirements on these systems are perfunctory and inconsequential and the costs of installation at the customer’s site are accrued 
at the time of revenue recognition.  The Company has demonstrated a history of customer acceptance subsequent to shipment 
and installation of these systems.  For systems which entail more significant installation efforts and site work and/or have non-
standard customer acceptance provisions, revenue recognition is deferred until installation is complete and customer acceptance 
has occurred.   
 
 Service revenues are recognized on time and materials engagements as the services are provided. Service contract revenues are 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the length of the contract which reasonably approximates the period service revenues are 
earned. 
 
 The Company records billed shipping and handling fees and billed out-of-pocket expenses as revenue and the associated costs 
as cost of goods sold in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 
 
 Inventories and Related Allowance for Obsolete and Excess Inventory:   Inventories consist of material, labor and 
manufacturing overhead and are recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Excessive manufacturing overhead costs such 
as idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and wasted material (spoilage) attributable to abnormally low volumes (levels that 
materially differ from budgeted production plans due primarily to changes in customer demand) are excluded from inventory and 
recorded as an expense in the period incurred. The Company regularly reviews inventory quantities on hand and records a 
provision for excess and obsolete inventory based primarily on the estimated forecast of product demand over the next twelve to 
eighteen months. Demand for products can fluctuate significantly. A significant increase in the demand for the Company’s 
products could result in a short-term increase in inventory balances, while a significant decrease in demand could result in an 
increase in the amount of excess inventory quantities on hand. Additionally, inventory reserves require estimates of future product 
demand, which may materially impact the provision required for excess and obsolete inventory. In the future, if inventory were 
determined to be overvalued, the Company would be required to recognize such costs in its cost of goods sold at the time of such 
determination. Likewise, if inventory is determined to be undervalued, the Company may have over-reported costs of goods sold 
in previous periods and would be required to recognize such additional operating income at the time of sale. Therefore, although 
the Company makes every effort to ensure the accuracy of forecasts of future product demand, any significant unanticipated 
changes in demand or technological developments could have a significant impact on the value of its inventory and reported 
operating results. 
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 Stock-Based Compensation:  On April 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 
123(R) (SFAS 123(R)) “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, which requires the measurement and recognition of all 
compensation costs for all stock based awards made to employees and the Board of Directors based upon fair value over the 
requisite service period for awards expected to vest. Prior to adoption, the Company accounted for stock options under the 
intrinsic value method set in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees,” and related interpretations, and provided the required pro forma disclosures prescribed by SFAS  No. 123, 
“Accounting for Share-based Compensation”, as amended.    
 
 SFAS 123(R) requires the Company to estimate the fair value of share-based awards on the date of grant using an option 
pricing model. The Company adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method which required the 
application of the accounting standard starting April 1, 2006, the first day of the Company’s fiscal year 2007. Prior period 
information was not restated to reflect the fair value method of expensing share-based awards. 
  
 Income Taxes:  The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” 
Accordingly, the Company recognizes deferred income taxes based on the expected future tax consequences of differences between 
the financial statement basis and the tax basis of assets and liabilities, calculated using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in 
which the differences are expected to be reflected in the tax return. The Company evaluates the need for a valuation allowance 
against its net deferred tax assets at year end based upon its three year cumulative income and its projections of future income, and 
records a valuation allowance against any net deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that they will not be realized. 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements  
 
 In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" ("SFAS 157"). SFAS 157 establishes a 
common definition for fair value to be applied, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosure about such fair value measurements. In February 2007, the FASB issued 
SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities-including an amendment of FASB 
Statement No. 115" ("SFAS 159"). SFAS 159 allows an entity the irrevocable option to elect fair value for the initial and 
subsequent measurement of certain financial assets and liabilities under an instrument-by-instrument election. SFAS 157 and 
SFAS 159 are both effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. Management does not expect the adoption of 
SFAS 157 or SFAS 159 to have a material impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations and cash flows.  
 
        In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, "Business Combinations" ("SFAS 141R"). SFAS 141R replaces SFAS 
141 and establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the 
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the goodwill acquired. This 
standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008.  
 
        In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, "Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements" 
("SFAS 160"). SFAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards for ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties 
other than the parent, the amount of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest, 
changes in a parent's ownership interest and the valuation of retained noncontrolling equity investments when a subsidiary is 
deconsolidated. This standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008.  
  
ITEM 7A. QUANTITIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 
 
 The Company is subject to interest rate risk on its credit facilities which have variable interest rates tied to the Prime Rate. As 
of March 31, 2008, the Company had no variable interest rate debt outstanding. See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements for a discussion of our long-term indebtedness. 
 
 The cash accounts for the Company’s operations in Hong Kong, England, and Abu Dhabi are maintained in Hong Kong 
dollars, pounds sterling and dirhams, respectively. Foreign currency accounts are marked to market at current rates that resulted in 
immaterial translation adjustments to stockholders’ equity. The gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are included in 
the statement of operations for the period and were also immaterial. A hypothetical 10% change in foreign currency rates would 
not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations or financial position. 
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 As of March 31, 2008, the Company holds short-term investments and cash equivalents consisting of commercial paper, 
money market funds, corporate debentures/bonds and certificates of deposit. The Company’s primary objective with its 
investment portfolio is to invest available cash while preserving principal and meeting liquidity needs. These investments have an 
average interest rate of approximately 3.4% and are subject to interest rate risk. As a result of the average maturity and 
conservative nature of the investment portfolio, a sudden change in interest rates would not have a material adverse effect on the 
value of these investments.  To minimize this risk, we maintain a significant portion of our cash balances in money market funds. 
In general, money market funds are not subject to interest rate risk because the interest paid on such funds fluctuates with the 
prevailing interest rate. 
 
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA  
 
 The financial statements and supplementary financial information listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on 
page 25 are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are incorporated into this item by reference. 
 
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE 
  

None. 
  

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 
 As of the end of the period covered by this report, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, 
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the Company reviewed and evaluated the effectiveness of the 
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Based upon their evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2008 to ensure that information required to 
be disclosed by the Company in the reports filed and submitted by it under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized 
and reported within the time period specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and to provide 
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company in such reports is accumulated and communicated 
to the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely 
decisions regarding required disclosure. 

 
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
 Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such 
term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act.  Our management conducted an evaluation of the 
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting using the framework in “Internal Control-Integrated Framework” 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  Based on this evaluation under the criteria 
established in “Internal Control – Integrated Framework”, our management concluded that the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting was effective as of March 31, 2008.  Vitale, Caturano & Company, Ltd., our independent registered public 
accounting firm, has audited the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2008, and has issued 
their report thereon which is included herein. 
 
Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 
 
 There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act, during the quarter ended March 31, 2008 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. 
 
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 
  
 None. 
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PART III 
 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
Code of Conduct 
 
 The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to our Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief 
Financial Officer, and all employees of the Company. The Company’s Code of Conduct is posted on our website at www.as-
e.com and may be accessed in the Corporate Governance section of the Investor Information page. The Company intends to 
satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 10 of Form 8-K, regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, our Code of 
Conduct, by posting such information on our website at the location specified above. 
 
 The other information called for by this item is hereby incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy 
Statement relating to the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on or about July 29, 2008. 
 
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 
 The information called for by this item is hereby incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement 
relating to the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on or about July 29, 2008. 
 
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
 
 The information called for by this item is hereby incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement 
relating to the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on or about July 29, 2008. 
 
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 
 
 The information called for by this item is hereby incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement 
relating to the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on or about July 29, 2008. 
 
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 
 
 The information called for by this item is hereby incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement 
relating to the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on or about July 29, 2008. 
 
 
PART IV 
 
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 
 
 The financial statements listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page 25 are filed as part of this report, 
and such Index is incorporated in this item by reference. 
  
The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index on page 48 are filed as part of this report, and such Index is incorporated in this item by 
reference. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders  
of American Science and Engineering, Inc. 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of American Science and Engineering, Inc. and subsidiary (“the 
Company”) as of March 31, 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and 
comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006.  We also have audited 
American Science and Engineering, Inc. and subsidiary’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2008, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (COSO). Management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audit of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included 
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and 
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk.  Our audits also 
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for our opinions. 
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) 
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of 
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of American Science and Engineering, Inc. and subsidiary as of March 31, 2008 and 2007 and the results of their operations and 
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2008 in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, American Science and Engineering, Inc. maintained, in all 
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2008 based on criteria established in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  
 
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, 
effective April 1, 2006. 
 
/s/ Vitale, Caturano & Company, Ltd. 
 
VITALE, CATURANO & COMPANY, LTD. 
 
June 11, 2008 
Boston, Massachusetts 
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AMERICAN SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

MARCH 31, 2008 AND 2007 
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 

         2008                2007    
Assets 
Current assets:  
Cash and cash equivalents $ 52,418  $ 69,650 
Restricted cash and investments   319    202 
Short-term investments   72,687    66,086 
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $230 in 2008 and $224 in 2007   27,583    23,366 
Unbilled costs and fees   6,114    5,841 
Inventories   40,107    20,140 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   4,815   6,730 
Deferred income taxes  1,577    3,087 
Total current assets  205,620    195,102 
Building, equipment and leasehold improvements, net   22,201    23,054 
Restricted cash and investments  2,204   2,599 
Deferred income taxes  5,231  970 
Other assets  278   — 

Total assets $ 235,534  $ 221,725 
 
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity 
Current liabilities:  
Accounts payable $ 12,660 $ 8,117 
Accrued salaries and benefits    2,935   7,241 
Accrued warranty costs   1,671   1,997 
Deferred revenue   23,120   4,321 
Customer deposits   6,547   11,554 
Current portion of lease financing liability  1,134  1,263 
Warrant liability  —  634 
Other current liabilities  8,097  4,290
  
Total current liabilities  56,164  39,417 
Lease financing liability, net of current portion  9,540  10,379 
Other long term liabilities   3,758   4,231 

Total liabilities   69,462   54,027 

 
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 2 and 8) 
Stockholders’ equity: 

Preferred stock, no par value 
Authorized—100,000 shares 
Issued—None   —   —  

Common stock, $0.662/3 par value 
Authorized—20,000,000 shares 
Issued and outstanding 8,945,633 shares in 2008 and 9,186,975 shares in 2007  5,963   6,125  

Capital in excess of par value    91,544   105,036 
Accumulated other comprehensive income   114    48 
Retained earnings   68,451  56,489 

Total stockholders’ equity   166,072   167,698 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 235,534 $ 221,725 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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AMERICAN SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2008, 2007, AND 2006 
(Amounts in thousands except per share amounts) 

 
 
  2008   2007   2006  
Net sales and contract revenues: 
Net product sales and contract revenues $  103,165 $     101,140   $ 128,076 
Net service revenues  63,568   52,046   35,528 
Total net sales and contract revenues  166,733   153,186   163,604 
 
Cost of sales and contracts:  
Cost of product sales and contracts   70,413   60,033   65,374 
Cost of service revenues  36,570    26,614    20,032 
Total cost of sales and contracts   106,983   86,647   85,406 

Gross profit   59,750  66,539  78,198 

Selling, general and administrative expenses  26,221   27,136   19,642 
Research and development costs  12,306   7,184   9,601 
Gain on sale of assets  —   —   (336 ) 

Operating expenses   38,527  34,320  28,907 

Operating income    21,223  32,219  49,291 

Other income (expense):  
Interest and investment income  6,842   5,621   2,513 
Interest expense  (158)   (353)    (24 ) 
Other, net   (433)   259   83  
Change in warrant valuation  11   2,270   (6,094 ) 
Total other income (expense)   6,262   7,797     (3,522)  

Income before provision for income taxes   27,485  40,016  45,769 
Provision for income taxes   10,007  15,406  15,983 
Net income $ 17,478 $ 24,610 $ 29,786 
 
Income per share                 —Basic $ 1.92 $ 2.70 $ 3.48 
                                            —Diluted $ 1.87 $ 2.38 $ 3.27 
Weighted average shares —Basic   9,114  9,117  8,555 
                                            —Diluted   9,347  9,368  9,113 
Dividends declared per share $ 0.60  —  — 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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AMERICAN SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2008, 2007, AND 2006 
(Amounts in thousands, except share amounts) 

      
 
 
 
      

Balance, March 31, 2005 8,341,480   $  5,560   $    54,098   $  2,093  $    (12)   $   (169)   $  61,570  

Net income —   —   —   29,786   —  —  29,786   29,786 
Exercise of stock options  
  and warrants 695,777  465  19,700  —  —  —  20,165  — 
Issuance of stock under employee                  
  compensation plans 9,344  6  484  —  —  —  490  — 
Issuance of restricted stock 24,078  16  2,135  —  —  (2,151)  —  — 
Tax benefit accrued on stock option  
   exercises —  —  17,540  —  —   —  17,540   — 
Compensation expense on  
   stock options —  —  104  —  —   —  104   — 
Translation adjustment —  —   —  —   (3)  —  (3)  (3)  
Amortization of unearned 
  compensation  —   —    —  —  —   547   547  — 
Unrealized gain (loss) on                
  available for sale securities, net  —  —  —  —  (1)  —  (1)  (1) 

Balance, March 31, 2006 9,070,679  6,047  94,061  31,879  (16)  (1,773)  130,198  $  29,782 

Net income —  —  —  24,610  —  —  24,610  24,610 
Exercise of stock options  
  and warrants 67,130  45  2,912  —  —  —  2,957  — 
Issuance of stock under employee                
  compensation plans 10,530  7  631  —  —  —  638  — 
Issuance of restricted stock 38,636  26  (26 ) —  —  —   —  — 
Tax benefit accrued on stock option  
   exercises —  —  544  —  —   —  544   — 
Compensation expense on  
   stock options —  —  7,186  —  —   —  7,186   — 
Compensation expense on restricted 
   stock and restricted stock units —  —  1,501  —  —   —  1,501   —  
Translation adjustment —  —  —  —  16   —  16   16 
Reversal of unearned 
  compensation upon adoption  
   of FAS 123(R) —   —  (1,773)  —  —  1,773  —  — 
Unrealized gain (loss) on                 
  available for sale securities, net  —  —  —  —  48  —  48   48 

Balance, March 31, 2007 9,186,975  6,125  105,036  56,489  48  —   167,698 $ 24,674 

Net income —  —  —  17,478  —  —  17,478  17,478 
Repurchase of common stock (473,303)  (316 )  (24,852 )  —  —  —  (25,168 )  — 
Exercise of stock options  
  and warrants 149,260  99  4,062  —  —  —  4,161  — 
Issuance of stock under employee                
  compensation plans 12,091  8  681  —  —  —  689  — 
Issuance of restricted stock 70,640  47  (47 )  —  —  —   —  — 
Tax benefit accrued on stock option  
   exercises —  —  1,350  —  —   —  1,350   — 
Compensation expense on  
   stock options —  —  3,258  —  —   —  3,258   — 
Compensation expense on restricted 
   stock and restricted stock units —  —  2,056  —  —   —  2,056   — 
Dividends declared —  —  —  (5,516 )  —   —  (5,516)  — 
Translation adjustment —  —  —  —  (8)  —  (8)  (8) 
Unrealized gain (loss) on                 
  available for sale securities, net  —  —  —  —  74  —  74   74 

Balance, March 31, 2008 8,945,663 $ 5,963 $ 91,544 $ 68,451 $ 114 $ —  $ 166,072 $ 17,544 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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AMERICAN SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2008, 2007, AND 2006 
(Amounts in thousands) 

      2008   2007        2006       
Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net income $ 17,478 $ 24,610 $ 29,786 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash  
  provided by operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization  4,123  2,425  989 
Provisions for contracts, inventory, and accounts receivable reserves  380          (203)   2,673 
Write-down of note receivable  1,608   —   — 
Gain on sale of assets  —   —   (336) 
Change in fair value of warrants  (11 )  (2,270)  6,094 
Amortization of bond discount  (2,278 )  (1,666)  (356) 
Stock compensation expense  5,314  8,687  651 
Deferred income taxes  (2,751 )  72   5,627  
Reversal of deferred tax asset valuation allowance relating to the  
  utilization of tax net operating losses —  —  (2,715) 
Change in assets and liabilities: 

Accounts receivable  (4,236 )    2,621            2,408 
Unbilled costs and fees  (273 )  (1,748)  (3,338)
  
Inventories  (20,328 )   (3,206)            5,248 
Prepaid expenses and other assets  587   1,878   (5,566) 
Accounts payable  4,543          1,458  (84) 
Deferred revenue  18,326          4,591  (212) 
Customer deposits  (5,007 )       5,451  (5,029) 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  (136 )  2,154  4,358 
Non-current liabilities  —             —  (51) 

Total adjustments  (139 )  20,244          10,361 

Net cash provided by operating activities  17,339  44,854  40,147 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments  159,725  109,345  39,146 
Purchases of short-term instruments  (163,971 )  (130,600)  (61,334 ) 
Proceeds from sale of assets  —  —  2,800 
Issuance of note receivable  (608 )  (1,000)  — 
Purchases of property and equipment  (3,270 )  (4,733)  (11,224) 
Cash used for investing activities  (8,124 )  (26,988)       (30,612) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash and investments  278  (2,703)  257 
Proceeds from financing of leasehold improvements  417  2,253  3,339 
Repurchase of shares  (25,168 )  —   — 
Payment of common stock dividend  (5,516 )  —   — 
Repayment of leasehold financing  (1,335 )          (804)  (378) 
Proceeds from exercise of warrants  509  834  1,854 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options  3,029  989  10,118 
Reduction of income taxes paid due to the tax benefit from employee stock  
   option expense  1,350  544  10,515 
Cash (used for) provided by financing activities  (26,436 )  1,113  25,705 

Foreign currency translation effect on cash  (11 )  16        (3) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (17,232 )  18,995          35,237 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  69,650  50,655  15,418 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 52,418 $ 69,650 $ 50,655 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information: 
Interest paid $ 158 $ 353 $ 24 
Income taxes paid $ 11,417 $ 12,495 $ 7,598 

Non-cash transactions: 
Issuance of stock for 401K match $ 689 $ 638 $ 490 
Issuance of restricted stock  $ — $ — $ 2,151 
Assumption of debt / lease financing receivable $ — $ 2,029 $ 2,303 
Fair value of warrants exercised  $ 623 $ 1,134 $ 8,193 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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AMERICAN SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 American Science and Engineering, Inc. (the “Company”) is engaged in the development and manufacture of sophisticated X-
ray inspection systems for critical detection and security screening solutions for sale primarily to U.S. and foreign government 
agencies. 
 
Principles of Consolidation 
 
  The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary. All significant 
inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
 The Company considers all investments with original maturities of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents.  The Company 
maintains cash and cash equivalent balances with financial institutions that exceed federally insured limits.  The Company has not 
experienced any losses related to these balances, and management believes its credit risk to be minimal. Cash and cash equivalents 
are carried at cost, which approximates fair market value at fiscal year-end 2008 and 2007.  
 
Restricted Cash and Investments 
 
 The Company’s loan and security agreement with its bank require certain cash and investment balances to be restricted as 
collateral against outstanding standby letters of credit. The restricted cash amounts with Silicon Valley Bank are in the form of 
certificates of deposits that mature beyond 90 days.  Restrictions that mature beyond one year are classified as long-term in the 
accompanying balance sheet. 
 
Short-term Investments and Cash Equivalents 
 
 Short-term investments and cash equivalents consist of investments in money market funds, certificates of deposit, commercial 
paper and corporate debentures/bonds. These investments are classified as available-for-sale and are recorded at their fair market 
values using the specific identification method. The unrealized holding gains or losses on these securities are included as a 
component of comprehensive income in the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income.  
 
   

Amortized 
Cost 

 Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains 

 Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses 

  
 

Fair Value 
2008:         
Money market funds  $      33,340  $             —    $                —  $      33,340 
Certificates of deposit  7,000  2  — 7,002 
Commercial paper  45,098  37  — 45,135 
Corporate debentures/bonds  32,495  99  (56) 32,538 
  Total  $    117,933  $           138  $               (56) $    118,015 
         
Classified as:         
Cash equivalents        $      45,328 
Short term securities        72,687 
        $    118,015 
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2007:         
Money market funds  $        6,240  $               —  $               — $        6,240 
Certificates of deposit  4,201  —  (1) 4,200 
Commercial paper  72,760  6  (1) 72,765 
Corporate debentures/bonds  37,762  9  (6) 37,765 
U.S. Government agency bonds  3,974  —  — 3,974 
  Total  $    124,937  $             15  $              (8) $    124,944 
         
Classified as:         
Cash equivalents        $      58,858 
Short term securities        66,086 
        $    124,944 

 
Accounts Receivable and Unbilled Costs and Fees 
 
  Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount. Amounts collected on trade accounts receivable are included in net 
cash provided by operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows. The Company maintains an allowance for 
doubtful accounts for estimated losses inherent in its accounts receivable portfolio. The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects 
our best estimate of probable losses inherent in the accounts receivable balance. We determine the allowance based on known 
troubled accounts, historical experience, and other currently available evidence. Activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts is 
as follows: 
 

(In thousands)  

Balance at 
Beginning of 

Year 

Charged 
(Credited) to 

Costs and 
Expenses 

Deductions / 
Write-offs 
Charged to 

Reserves  

Balance at 
End of 
Year  

2008 $ 224 $ 19  $ 13 $ 230  
2007 $ 345 $ (119 ) $ 2 $ 224  
2006 $ 501 $ (106 ) $ 50 $ 345  
 

In fiscal 2007 and 2006, the Company had a net credit to bad debt expense as it collected on certain accounts receivable 
balances which were significantly aged and deemed to be uncollectible at the prior year ends. 

 
 Included in accounts receivable and unbilled costs and fees at March 31, 2008 and 2007 are $20,822,000 and $23,976,000, 
respectively, attributable to both prime and subcontracts with federal and state governments. The Company establishes a reserve 
against unbilled costs and fees based on known troubled accounts or contracts, historical experience, and other currently available 
evidence. There was not activity in the reserve for unbilled costs and fees during fiscal 2008.  Activity in the allowance for unbilled 
costs and fees for fiscal 2007 and 2006 is as follows: 
 

(In thousands)  

Balance at 
Beginning 

of Year  

Charged 
(Credited) to 

Costs and 
Expenses  

Deductions/  
Write-offs 
Charged to 

Reserves  

Balance at 
End of 
Year 

2007 $ 36 $ (36) $ — $ — 
2006 $ 76 $ (28) $ 12 $ 36 

 
Inventories 
 
 Inventories consist of material, labor and manufacturing overhead and are recorded at the lower of cost, using the weighted 
average cost method, or net realizable value. Excessive manufacturing overhead costs attributable to idle facility expenses, freight, 
handling costs and wasted material (spoilage) attributable to abnormally low production volumes (levels that materially differ 
from budgeted production plans due primarily to changes in customer demand) are excluded from inventory and recorded as an 
expense in the period incurred. 
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The components of inventories at March 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows: 
 
(In thousands)      2008        2007   
Raw materials, completed subassemblies and spare parts  $ 18,113 $ 11,260 
Work-in-process  12,163  6,681 
Finished goods  9,831  2,199 
  Total $ 40,107 $ 20,140 

 
 The Company periodically reviews quantities of inventory on hand and compares these amounts to expected usage of each 
particular product or product line. The Company records, as a charge to cost of sales, any amounts required to reduce the carrying 
value to net realizable value. 
 
Notes Receivable 
 
 During fiscal 2007 and 2008, the Company loaned a potential acquisition target $1,608,000 million under an interest bearing 
note receivable.  During fiscal 2008, the Company abandoned this acquisition and evaluated the collectibility of the note to 
determine if there was any risk of default. The Company determined that there was risk of default, and during the year ended 
March 31, 2008, the Company wrote off this note receivable and the related accrued interest receivable as an uncollectible debt. 
The write-off is included in general and administrative expense for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2008. 
 
Building, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements 
 
 The Company provides for depreciation and amortization of its fixed assets on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives 
of 3-11 years or remaining lease terms. Expenditures for normal maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. 
Significant additions, renewals or betterments that extend the useful lives of the assets are capitalized at cost. The cost and 
accumulated depreciation applicable to equipment and leasehold improvements sold, or otherwise disposed of, are removed from 
the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is included in the consolidated statements of operations. 
 
 Building, equipment and leasehold improvements consisted of the following at March 31: 
 
(In thousands)  Estimated Useful Lives  2008  2007  
 
Building and leasehold improvements 

 Lesser of 11 years or 
remaining lease term 

 
$        18,014

 
$        17,252 

 

Equipment and tooling  3-10 years  2,488  2,306  
Computer equipment and software  3-5 years  15,368  14,272  
Furniture and fixtures  5-7 years  1,476  1,319  
Demo and test equipment  3-7 years  4,193  3,120  
Motor vehicles  3 years  18  18  
Total    41,557  38,287  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization    (19,356) (15,233 ) 
Building, equipment and leasehold improvements, net    $        22,201  $        23,054  
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
   The Company recognizes certain CargoSearch and Z Backscatter system sales and other product revenue, primarily 
ParcelSearch systems and after-market parts, in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin  (“SAB”)No. 101, Revenue 
Recognition in Financial Statements modified by SAB No. 104 which requires that four basic criteria must be met before revenue 
can be recognized: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred or services rendered; (3) the fee is 
fixed and determinable; and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured. 
 
 Certain of the Company’s contracts are multiple-element arrangements, which include standard products, custom-built 
systems or contract engineering projects, services, such as training and service contracts. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task 
Force Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” (“EITF 00-21”) revenue arrangements that include 
multiple elements are analyzed to determine whether the deliverables can be divided into separate units of accounting or treated as 
a single unit of accounting. The consideration the Company receives is allocated among the separate units of accounting based on 
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their relative fair values determined based on prices of these elements as sold on a stand-alone basis, and the applicable revenue 
recognition criteria are applied to each of the separate units. There is no customer right of return in the Company’s sales 
agreements.  Revenues are allocated to a delivered product or service when all of the following criteria are met: (1) the delivered 
item has value to the customer on a standalone basis; (2) there is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered 
item; and (3) if the arrangement includes a general right of return relative to the delivered item, delivery or performance of the 
undelivered item is considered probable and substantially in our control.  
 
 Revenues for certain long-term, custom-built systems or contract engineering projects are recognized on a percentage of 
completion basis. The lengths of these contracts typically range from 9 to 24 months from order to delivery and acceptance. 
Percentages-of-completion are determined by relating the actual costs of work performed to date for each contract to its estimated 
final costs. Revisions in costs and profit estimates are reflected in the period in which the facts causing the revision become 
known.  
 
 Training and service contracts deliverables are accounted for separately from the delivered product elements as the Company’s 
undelivered products have value to its customers on a stand-alone basis and the Company has objective and reliable evidence of 
the fair value of such services. Accordingly, service revenue representing the fair value of services not yet performed at the time of 
product shipment is deferred and recognized as such services are performed.  
 
 Certain contracts require payments from the customer upon execution of the agreement that are included in customer 
deposits. Individual customer deposits are reduced by the amount of revenue recognized on the contract until a zero balance is 
reached. Revenue recognized in excess of billings under the contracts is included in unbilled costs and fees in the accompanying 
balance sheet. Of the amounts in unbilled costs and fees at March 31, 2008, $6,040,000 (99%) is expected to be billed and 
collected during fiscal 2009. 
 
 For all fixed price and long-term contracts, if a loss is anticipated on the contract, a provision is made in the period in which 
such losses are determined. 
 
      Under the terms of certain of its cost reimbursement contracts, the Company is not permitted to bill customers a specified 
portion of the contract value until completion. Such retainages (approximately $74,000 and $46,000 at March 31, 2008 and 
2007, respectively)  result from both commercial contract retentions and government contract withholdings generally for up to 
15% of fees, as well as the difference between the actual and provisional indirect cost billing rates. Retainages are included in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets as components of unbilled costs and fees. The accuracy and appropriateness of the 
Company's direct and indirect costs and expenses under these cost reimbursement contracts and its accounts receivable recorded 
pursuant to such contracts, are subject to regulation and audit, including by the U.S.  Defense Contract Audit Agency ("DCAA") 
or by other appropriate agencies of the U.S. Government.  Such agencies  have the right to  challenge  the  Company's  cost  
estimates  or allocations  with  respect  to any  government  contract.  Additionally, a portion of the payments to the Company 
under government contracts are provisional payments that are subject to potential adjustment upon audit by such agencies.  
Historically, such audits have not resulted in any significant disallowed costs.  Although the Company can give no assurances, in 
the  opinion  of  management,  any  adjustments  likely to  result  from inquiries  or  audits of its  contracts  will not have a  
material  adverse impact on the Company's financial condition or results of operations. 
 

 The Company recognizes sales for its systems that are produced in a standard manufacturing operation, have minimal 
customer site installation requirements and have shorter order to delivery cycles when title passes and when other revenue 
recognition criteria are met. Management believes the customer’s post-delivery acceptance provisions and installation 
requirements on these systems are perfunctory and inconsequential and the costs of installation at the customer’s site are accrued 
at the time of revenue recognition.  The Company has demonstrated a history of customer acceptance subsequent to shipment 
and installation of these systems.  For systems which entail more significant installation efforts and site work and/or have non-
standard customer acceptance provisions, revenue recognition is deferred until installation is complete and customer acceptance 
has occurred.   
 
 Service revenues are recognized on time and materials engagements as the services are provided. Service contract revenues are 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the length of the contract which reasonably approximates the period service revenues are 
earned. 
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 The Company records billed shipping and handling fees and billed out-of-pocket expenses as revenue and the associated costs 
as cost of goods sold in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 
 
Warranty Costs 
 
  The Company generally provides on certain of its products a one year parts and labor warranty with the purchase of domestic 
equipment, and a one year parts only warranty on international equipment. The anticipated cost for this one year warranty is 
accrued for at the time of the sale based upon historical experience and management’s estimates of future liabilities, and is 
recorded as accrued warranty costs (See Note 5). 
 
Deferred Revenue 
 
 The Company offers to its customers extended warranty and service contracts. These contracts typically have a coverage period 
of one to five years, and include advance payments that are recorded as deferred revenue. Revenue is recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the life of the contract, which reasonably approximates the period these revenues are earned. Costs associated with these 
extended warranty and service contracts are expensed to cost of goods sold as incurred. 
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
 
  Long-lived assets are reviewed for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of such assets may not be recoverable in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment and Disposal of 
Long-Lived Assets. 
 
 Impairment is assessed by comparing the estimated undiscounted cash flows over the asset’s remaining life to the carrying 
amount of the asset. If the estimated cash flows are insufficient to recover the asset, an impairment loss is recognized based on the 
difference between the carrying value of the asset and the fair value of the asset less any costs of disposal.  No impairment costs 
were recorded in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. 
 
Accrued Salaries and Benefits 
 
 Accrued salaries and benefits at March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2007 include the following: 
 
(In thousands)   2008             2007                         
Accrued payroll and payroll related taxes  $ 656 $ 510  
Accrued benefits   236  212 
Accrued incentive compensation   550  5,269 
Accrued vacation  1,493  1,250 
 $ 2,935 $ 7,241 
 
Customer Deposits 
 

 For most international orders, the Company generally includes, as part of its terms and conditions, an advance deposit with 
order acceptance. For long-term international contracts, the Company will generally include milestone payments tied to a specific 
event and/or passage of time. These deposit amounts are recorded as a liability under Customer Deposits until reduced by revenue 
recognized against the specific contract. 
 
Research and Development 
 
 Internally funded research and development costs including direct labor, material, subcontractor expenses and related 
overheads are expensed as incurred. Internally funded research and development costs were $12,306,000, $7,184,000, and 
$9,601,000 in fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.  In addition, the Company recognized revenues of $13,978,000, 
$6,597,000, and $2,804,000, in fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively related to government-sponsored research and 
development earned primarily on a cost reimbursement and fee basis as discussed above.  
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 
 The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts 
receivable, unbilled costs and fees, accounts payable, warrant liability and letters of credit. The recorded amounts of these 
instruments approximate fair value. 
 
Income per Common and Potential Common Shares 
 
 Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted 
average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share include the dilutive impact of 
options, warrants, restricted stock and restricted stock units using the average share price of the Company’s common stock for the 
period. For the years ended March 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively, common stock equivalents of 253,000, 108,000, and 
72,000 are excluded from diluted earnings per share, as their effect is anti-dilutive. 
 
 Year Ended 
  March 31,   March 31,  March 31, 
(In thousands except per share amounts)   2008   2007   2006  
Earnings per Share Basic:         
Net income $ 17,478  $ 24,610  $ 29,786 
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—basic  9,114   9,117   8,555 
Income per Share – Basic $ 1.92  $ 2.70  $ 3.48 

Earnings per Share Diluted:         
Net income $ 17,478  $ 24,610  $ 29,786 
Adjustment to net income for change in warrant valuation  (11)  (2,270 )  — 
Adjusted net income $ 17,467  $ 22,340  $ 29,786 
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—basic  9,114   9,117   8,555 
Assumed exercise of stock options,  warrants, restricted stock 
   and restricted stock units, using the treasury stock method 

 
233

   
251 

   
558 

Weighted average number of common and potential common shares 
    outstanding —diluted 

 
9,347

   
9,368 

   
9,113 

Income per share  — Diluted $ 1.87  $ 2.38  $ 3.27 
     
Income Taxes 
 
 The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 109, 
“Accounting for Income Taxes.” Accordingly, the Company recognizes deferred income taxes based on the expected future tax 
consequences of differences between the financial statement basis and the tax basis of assets and liabilities, calculated using enacted 
tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to be reflected in the tax return. The Company records a 
valuation allowance against any net deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that they will not be realized. 
 
Concentrations of credit risk 
 

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and 
cash equivalents, investments and accounts and unbilled receivables.  At times, the Company maintains cash balances in excess of 
insured limits. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with major financial institutions.  The Company’s credit 
risk is managed by investing its cash in high quality money market funds, commercial paper, investment grade corporate bonds 
and certificates of deposit.   

 
The Company’s largest customer, an agency of the U.S. Government, at March 31, 2008 comprised 24% of the total accounts 

receivable balance.  The Company generally requires letters of credit and/or prepayments from higher-risk and international 
customers.  The Company has not experienced any significant losses from uncollectible accounts.  
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Stock-Based Compensation 

On April 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R) (SFAS 123(R)) 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, which requires the measurement and recognition of all compensation costs for all 
stock based awards made to employees and the Board of Directors based upon fair value over the requisite service period for 
awards expected to vest. Prior to adoption, the Company accounted for stock options under the intrinsic value method set in 
accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related 
interpretations, and provided the required pro forma disclosures prescribed by SFAS  No. 123, “Accounting for Share-based 
Compensation”, as amended.    
 
 SFAS 123(R) requires the Company to estimate the fair value of share-based awards on the date of grant using an option 
pricing model. The Company adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method which required the 
application of the accounting standard starting April 1, 2006, the first day of the Company’s fiscal year 2007. Prior period 
information was not restated to reflect the fair value method of expensing share-based awards. 
  
 Stock- based compensation costs recognized for the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, includes compensation costs for 
awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of April 1, 2006 (adoption date), as well as any new grants issued after April 1, 
2006.  The Company recognized $5,314,000 and $8,594,000 of share-based compensation costs in the consolidated statements 
of income for the year ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The income tax benefit related to such compensation for 
the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 was approximately $818,000 and $1,140,000, respectively.   
 
 The following table summarizes share-based compensation costs included in the Company’s consolidated statements of 
income: 
 Fiscal Year Ended 
(In thousands) March 31, 2008 March 31, 2007
Cost of revenues $ 1,478 $ 3,559
Selling, general and administrative  3,836   5,035
Total share-based compensation expense before tax $ 5,314 $ 8,594
   
 
 The Company had previously adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Share-based Compensation,” as 
amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Share-based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure,” through disclosure only. 
The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006 as if the 
Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to share-based employee awards. 

  (In thousands except per share amounts) 2006  
Net income    
As reported  $ 29,786   
Add: Stock based compensation included in net income as reported 651  
Less: Stock based compensation using fair value method for all awards (9,234) 
Pro forma net income  $  21,203   
  
Income per share –Basic   
     As reported $ 3.48   
     Pro forma $ 2.48   
Income per share –Diluted:    
     As reported $ 3.27   
     Pro forma $ 2.34   
  
 Upon adoption of SFAS 123(R), in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletins No. 107 and No. 110, the Company selected 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model as the most appropriate method for determining the estimated fair value for the stock 
awards.  The Black-Scholes method of valuation requires several assumptions: (1) the expected term of the stock award, (2) the 
expected future stock volatility over the expected term and (3) risk-free interest rate. The expected term represents the expected 
period of time the Company believes the options will be outstanding based on historical information. Estimates of expected future 
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stock price volatility are based on the historic volatility of the Company’s common stock and the risk free interest rate is based on 
the U.S. Zero-Bond rate.  The fair value of options at date of grant was estimated with the following assumptions: 
 
 Year Ended 
  March 31,   March 31,  March 31, 
  2008   2007   2006  
Assumptions:  
Expected life      3 years         3 years    3 years  
Risk-free interest rate   4.1%           4.8%                    3.4%  
Stock volatility   51%          56%              53%  
Dividend yield       1.3%                 0%            0%  
 
New Accounting Pronouncements  
 
 In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" ("SFAS 157"). SFAS 157 establishes a 
common definition for fair value to be applied, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosure about such fair value measurements. In February 2007, the FASB issued 
SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities-including an amendment of FASB 
Statement No. 115" ("SFAS 159"). SFAS 159 allows an entity the irrevocable option to elect fair value for the initial and 
subsequent measurement of certain financial assets and liabilities under an instrument-by-instrument election. SFAS 157 and 
SFAS 159 are both effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. Management does not expect the adoption of 
SFAS 157 or SFAS 159 to have a material impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations and cash flows.  
 
        In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, "Business Combinations" ("SFAS 141R"). SFAS 141R replaces SFAS 
141 and establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the 
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the goodwill acquired. This 
standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008.  
 
        In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, "Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements" 
("SFAS 160"). SFAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards for ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties 
other than the parent, the amount of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest, 
changes in a parent's ownership interest and the valuation of retained noncontrolling equity investments when a subsidiary is 
deconsolidated. This standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008.  
 
2. LEASE AGREEMENTS 
 
 The Company leases certain equipment under operating lease arrangements and facilities under non-cancelable operating 
leases with various renewal options. For operating leases which contain fixed escalations in rental payments, the Company records 
the total rent payable on a straight-line basis over the original lease term as defined in SFAS 98 “Accounting for Leases.” The 
Company incurred $269,000, $204,000, and $634,000 of operating rent expense in 2008, 2007, and 2006 respectively.   In 
conjunction with the Company’s lease for its headquarters, the Company has issued security in the form of a standby letter of 
credit in the amount of $300,000 with an original expiration date of March 1, 2006 and contains automatic extensions through 
May 15, 2016. 
 
      In March 2005, the Company renewed its lease agreement for its corporate headquarters and manufacturing facilities in 
Billerica, Massachusetts.  As part of the lease agreement, the Company’s landlord agreed to certain renovations to the Billerica 
facility including the construction of additional high bay manufacturing space.  The Company was responsible for a portion of 
the construction costs and was deemed to be the owner of the building during the construction period under EITF 97-10 “The 
Effect of Lessee Involvement in Asset Construction”.  In January 2007, the Company amended this lease agreement to expand its 
lease to include the remaining available space in the building.  During the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company capitalized 
$2,029,000 to record the facility on its books with an offsetting credit to the Lease Financing Liability.  In addition, amounts paid 
for construction were recorded as construction in progress and the landlord construction allowances of $5,642,000 in 2006 and 
$367,000 in 2008 were recorded as additional lease financing liability.  
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      At the completion of the construction of the initial renovations in February 2006, the lease was reviewed for potential sale-
leaseback treatment in accordance with SFAS No. 98.  Based on this review, it was determined that the lease did not qualify for 
sale-leaseback treatment in accordance with SFAS No. 98.  As a result, building and tenant improvements and associated lease 
financing liabilities remained on the Company’s books.  The Lease Financing Liability is being amortized over the lease term 
based on the payments designated in the agreement and the building and tenant improvement assets are being depreciated on a 
straight line basis over their useful lives. 
 
 Future minimum rental payments under the Company’s non-cancelable leases, excluding real estate taxes, insurance and 
operating costs paid by the Company, required over the initial terms of the leases are as follows (in thousands): 
 

Year Ending March 31,   Operating Leases Capital Leases 
2009 $ 194 $ 1,278 
2010    185 1,291 
2011   185 1,412 
2012   185 1,412 
2013   185 1,424 
Thereafter  541  4,498 
Total payments $ 1,475  11,315 
Imputed interest    (641) 
Lease financing liability   $ 10,674 
Less:  Current portion of lease financing liability    1,134 
Lease financing liability, net of current portion   $ 9,540 

 

3. LINE OF CREDIT 
 
 On November 16, 2006, the Company modified its domestic loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank East 
which was scheduled to expire on November 29, 2006.  The Company increased its domestic facility from $5.0 million to $20.0 
million to support the Company’s routine working capital needs.  The Company’s $10.0 million export loan and security facility, 
guaranteed by the Export-Import Bank of the United States, expired as of November 29, 2006. Maximum amount available for 
borrowings under the domestic facility is (a) if the Company’s unrestricted cash is greater than or equal to $30.0 million, $20.0 
million minus  the amount of all outstanding letters of credit less certain reserves, and minus the outstanding principal balance of 
any advances or (b) if the Company’s unrestricted cash is less than $30.0 million for a period of 30 consecutive days, the lesser of 
(i) the $20.0 million, or ii) 85% of eligible domestic accounts receivable minus  the amount of outstanding letters of credits 
adjusted for certain reserves and minus the principal balance of any advances.  The modification of the domestic loan and security 
agreement extended this credit facility through November 14, 2008.   
  
 The credit facility bears an interest rate of the greater of 4.0% or the Silicon Valley Bank prime rate (5.25% at March 31, 
2008). The credit agreement is collateralized by certain assets of the Company and contain certain restrictions, including 
limitations on the amount of distributions that can be made to stockholders, and the disposition or encumbrances of assets, and 
require the maintenance of certain financial covenants.  As of March 31, 2008, the Company was in compliance with these 
covenants. 
 
 At March 31, 2008, there were no borrowings outstanding against this credit facility.  Under the terms of the credit 
agreement, the Company was required to pay certain one-time facility fees which are being amortized over the lives of the facilities 
and is required to pay a fee of 0.50% quarterly on unused amounts under the line of credits.  Total expenses incurred related to 
these fees were $157,000, $202,000, and $172,000 in fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. 
 
  In the normal course of business, the Company may provide certain customers and potential customers with performance 
guarantees, which are generally backed by standby letters of credit. In general, the Company would only be liable for the amount 
of these guarantees in the event of default in the performance of our obligations, the probability of which is remote in 
management’s opinion.   The Company had outstanding $6,091,000 in stand-by letters of credit against the domestic facility 
with $13,909,000 remaining availability.   Of the outstanding letters of credit, $300,000 relates to the Company’s building lease 
and the remainder is guaranteeing performance on certain international projects.   No amounts have been drawn against these 
letters of credit. In addition at March 31, 2008, the Company had a restricted cash balance of $2,523,000 related to certain bank 
required deposits for outstanding letters of credits, bid bonds, and other bank-related fees. 
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4. INCOME TAXES 
 
 The provision for income taxes for the years ended March 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 consisted of the following: 
 

(In thousands)         2008   2007   2006   
Current: 
Federal $ 12,040 $ 13,909 $ 11,388 
State   680  1,419  1,653 
Foreign   40   30  30 
    12,760   15,358   13,071 
Deferred 
Federal   (2,713)  (204)  5,090 
State  (40)  252  537 
Change in Valuation Allowance   —   —   (2,715) 
    (2,753)  48  2,912 
Total $ 10,007 $ 15,406 $ 15,983   
 

 The difference between the total expected provision for income taxes computed by applying the statutory federal income tax 
rate to income before provision for income taxes and the recorded provision for income taxes for the three years in the period 
ended March 31, is as follows: 
 
(In thousands)  2008   2007       2006      
Provision for income taxes at statutory rate  $ 9,620 $ 14,005 $ 16,019 
State tax provision net of federal effect    416  1,085  1,424 
Permanent tax differences for stock warrant   (4 )  (795)  2,133 
Non-deductible stock based compensation  242  1,369  — 
Research tax credits  (191 )  (30)  (226) 
Effect of ETI exclusion   —   (229)  (678) 
Change in valuation allowance  —   —   (2,715) 
Qualifying manufacturing credits  (179 )  (206)  (189) 
Other  103  207         215 

 Provision for income taxes $ 10,007 $ 15,406 $ 15,983 
 

During fiscal 2006, the deferred tax valuation allowance at March 31, 2005 of $9,740,000 was reversed, due to the 
determination by the Company that the benefits of the deferred tax asset will more likely than not be realized in the current and 
future years.  This valuation allowance was established by a combination of prior year operating activities and the exercise of non-
qualified stock options and disqualifying dispositions of incentive stock options by employees.  The amount that related to prior 
year operating activities totaled $2,715,000 and was recorded as a reduction of the fiscal 2006 income tax expense.  The amount 
that related to the exercise of stock options of $7,025,000 was recorded as a component of the tax benefit accrued on stock option 
exercises in equity in accordance with the provisions of APB No. 25 and SFAS No. 109.    

 
 The significant components of the net deferred tax assets at March 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 
 
 2008 2007 
(In thousands)      Current Non-current    Current     Non-current 
Assets: 
Net operating loss carry forwards $ — $ — $ — $ 3 
Accounts receivable and unbilled costs and fees   —  84  83  — 
Inventory   104  797  814  — 
Deferred revenue    —  1,522  —  276 
Accrued vacation    489  —  326  — 
Accrued warranty costs    620  —  733  — 
Depreciation    —  304  —  468 
Unearned compensation  343  2,524  1,103  223 
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Other    21  —  28  — 
Deferred income tax assets    1,577  5,231  3,087  970 
Valuation allowance   —  —  —  — 
Net deferred income taxes  $ 1,577 $ 5,231 $ 3,087 $ 970 
 

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of 
FASB Statement 109” (“FIN 48”). This statement clarifies the criteria that an individual tax position must satisfy for some or all 
of the benefits of that position to be recognized in a company’s financial statements. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold 
of more-likely–than-not, and a measurement attribute for all tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return, in 
order for those tax positions to be recognized in the financial statements. Effective April 1, 2007, the Company adopted the 
provisions of FIN 48 and there has been no material effect on the financial statements. As a result, there was no cumulative 
effect related to adopting FIN 48 and no interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions was accrued.  

 
The Company is currently open to audit under the statute of limitations by the Internal Revenue Service and state taxing 

authorities for the years ending March 31, 2005 through 2008.  There are no federal or state income tax examinations that are 
currently being performed. The Company believes that there are no uncertain tax positions as of March 31, 2008.  
  
5. WARRANTY OBLIGATIONS 
 
 Certain of the Company’s products carry a one-year warranty, the costs of which are accrued for at time of shipment or 
delivery. Accrual rates are based upon historical experience over the preceding twelve months and management’s judgment of 
future exposure. Warranty experience for the years ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 is as follows: 
 
(In thousands)  2008  2007 
Warranty accrual at beginning of period  $         1,997  $      3,606 
Accruals for warranties issued during the period  2,826  2,585 
Adjustment of preexisting accrual estimates  (2,020)  (2,735) 
Warranty costs incurred during period  (1,132)  (1,459) 
Warranty accrual at end of period  $         1,671  $      1,997 

 
6. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

 
Preferred Stock 
 

The Company’s articles of organization authorize its Board of Directors to issue up to 100,000 shares of preferred stock in one 
or more series, to determine and fix certain relative rights and preferences of the shares of any series, to fix the number of shares 
constituting any such series, and to fix the designation of any such series, without further vote or action by its shareholders. The 
Company has no present plans to issue shares of preferred stock. In 1998, the Company designated a series of Preferred Stock (the 
“Series A Preferred Stock”) to be issued upon the exercise of Rights issued under the Company’s Shareholder Rights Plan. Under 
the Shareholder Rights Plan, adopted in 1998 and reissued upon its expiration in April 2008, its stockholders are entitled to 
purchase shares of its Series A Preferred Stock under certain circumstances. These circumstances include the purchase of 15% or 
more of the outstanding shares of common stock by a person or group, or the announcement of a tender or exchange offer to 
acquire 15% or more of the outstanding common stock. 

 
Common Stock and Warrant Offering 
 

On May 28, 2002, the Company closed on a private placement offering of common stock and warrants. A total of 1,115,000 
shares were sold to accredited investors at a price of $17.64 each. In addition, warrants to purchase an additional 295,475 shares 
of common stock at a price of $23.52 were issued. Proceeds to the Company approximated $18.4 million, net of approximately 
$1.3 million of issuance costs of which $3.1 million was assigned to the warrants issued. The warrants were immediately vested 
and had a five-year life which expired in May of 2007. Due to certain conversion features of these warrants that provided that the 
holder could opt for a cash settlement in certain instances, including a merger, a sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s 
assets, or a tender offer or exchange offer of shares of the Company’s stock, a liability equal to the Black-Scholes valuation of the 
warrants at the deal closing date was recorded on the Company’s balance sheet. The “mark to market” change in the warrants 
valuation of  ($11,000), ($2,270,000), and $6,094,000, was recorded as other (income) expense for the years ended March 31, 
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2008, March 31, 2007, and March 31, 2006, respectively. The liability of $634,000 representing the fair market value of 
outstanding warrants at period end is recorded as a current liability at March 31, 2007.  In May of 2007, all remaining warrants 
were exercised and no liability for these warrants remains at March 31, 2008.   

 
During fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, warrants to purchase 21,625, 35,450 and 78,825 shares of common stock were exercised 

resulting in total proceeds received of $509,000, $834,000 and $1,854,000, respectively.  In addition, in fiscal 2006 the 
Company issued 61,998 shares of common stock upon the cashless exercise of warrants to purchase 85,475 shares of common 
stock.  The fair market value of the warrants at the date of exercise totaled $623,000, $1,134,000 and $8,193,000 in fiscal 2008, 
2007 and 2006, respectively. The cash proceeds and the fair value of the liability were recorded as additional paid in capital at 
March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2007. 

 
Share Repurchase Program  

 
On May 17, 2007, the Board of Directors approved a Stock Repurchase Program which authorized the Company to 

repurchase up to $35 million of shares of its common stock from time to time on the open market.  During the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2008, the Company repurchased 473,303 shares of common stock at an average price of $53.17.  As of March 31, 
2008, the maximum dollar value of shares that may yet be purchased under the program totaled $9,832,000. 

 
On May 8, 2008 the Board of Directors approved an additional Stock Repurchase Program which authorizes the Company to 

repurchase up to $35 million of shares of its common stock from time to time on the open market.   
 

 
Common Stock Dividends 
 

On May 21, 2007, the Company announced a quarterly dividend plan for fiscal year 2008.  Three quarterly dividends of 
$0.20 per common share each were declared and paid during fiscal year 2008.  On May 13, 2008, the Company declared another 
quarterly dividend of $0.20 for holders of record on May 19, 2008 to be paid June 6, 2008. 

 
Stock Option and Other Compensation Plans 
 

The Company has various stock option and other compensation plans for directors, officers, and employees. The Company 
had the following stock option plans outstanding as of March 31, 2008: the 1995 Combination Plan, the 1997 Non-Qualified 
Option Plan, the 1998 Non-Qualified Option Plan, the 1999 Combination Plan, the 2000 Combination Plan, the 2002 
Combination Plan, the 2003 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors and the 2005 Equity and Incentive Plan. There are 
3,480,000 shares authorized under these plans. Vesting periods are at the discretion of the Board of Directors and typically range 
between one and three years. Certain of the options granted vest upon the achievement of certain performance based goals as well 
as service time incurred.  Options under these plans are granted at fair market value and have a term of five or ten years from the 
date of grant. 

 
Stock Options:    A summary of the Company’s stock option activity is as follows: 
 

 2008  2007  2006 

 
Number 
of Shares  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price  
Number 
of Shares  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price  
Number of 

Shares  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
Options outstanding, beginning of year 887,573  $    37.43  878,470  $    36.79  1,065,964  $     20.66 
Options granted 76,970  63.21  60,670  48.23  378,010  55.23 
Options exercised (127,635)  23.73  (31,680)  31.23  (554,954)  18.23 

Options canceled or expired (8,845)  59.71  (19,887)  51.94  (10,550)  44.44 
Options outstanding, end of year 828,063  $    41.70  887,573  $    37.43  878,470  $     36.79 
Options exercisable, end of year 712,356  $    38.74  639,219  $    33.88  265,778  $     18.80 

Options available for grant 145,691    320,865    440,835   
Weighted average fair value per  
  share of options granted during the year   $22.60    $    20.09    $     20.99 
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The following summarizes certain data for options outstanding and exercisable at March 31, 2008: 
 
 
 
 
Options outstanding: 169,203 $ 6.50–$20.00 $ 11.91  4.88 
  97,563   20.01–30.00   27.56  6.39 
  64,532   30.01–40.00   38.93  6.68 
  126,866   40.01–50.00   45.74  7.58 

  201,391   50.01–60.00   53.64  7.28 
      168,508  60.01–66.45  63.54 7.84 
     828,063     $ 41.70  6.80 

Options exercisable: 169,203 $  6.50–$20.00 $ 11.91  
  97,563   20.01–30.00   27.56  

 64,532  30.01–40.00  38.93   
 118,599  40.01–50.00  45.97 

 184,254  50.01–60.00  53.69   
      78,205   60.01–66.45   64.39 
      712,356      $ 38.74 
 
The total intrinsic value, representing the difference between market value on the date of exercise and the option price, of 

stock options exercised during fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $4,892,000, $904,000 and $29,650,000, respectively.   Nonvested 
stock option awards are subject to the risk of forfeiture until the fulfillment of specified conditions. As of March 31, 2008 there 
was $1,426,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock option awards granted under the Company’s 
stock plans. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of three years.    
 

The Company realizes a tax deduction upon the exercise of non-qualified stock options and disqualifying dispositions of 
incentive stock options due to the recognition of compensation expense in the calculation of its taxable income. The amount of 
the compensation recognized for tax purposes is based on the difference between the market value of the common stock and the 
option price at the date the options are exercised and/or sold. These tax benefits are credited to additional paid-in capital if it is 
considered more likely than not that they will be realized. No tax benefits were recorded in fiscal 2005 as available tax benefits of 
$5,115,000 were offset by valuation allowances in accordance with SFAS 109. During fiscal 2008, 2007 and 2006, a tax benefit 
of $1,350,000, $544,000 and $10,515,000, respectively, was recorded to additional paid-in capital for exercises and/or sales of 
stock options or stock and an additional $7,025,000 was recorded in fiscal 2006 for prior year exercises and/or sales upon the 
reversal of the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets.  

 
On April 22, 2005 American Science and Engineering, Inc. announced that its Board of Directors had accelerated the vesting 

of certain unvested stock options previously awarded to employees. The accelerated options were issued under various equity 
incentive plans maintained by the Company. The acceleration of outstanding unvested options was immediately effective on a 
fully-vested basis. Options held by the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, all other members of management, 
and any other employees participating in incentive or commission compensation plans were not included in the acceleration plan. 
Options held by members of the Board of Directors were also excluded from the vesting acceleration. Options to purchase 
approximately 193,553 shares of common stock were subject to acceleration. The Company effected this acceleration in order to 
provide a deserved reward to relevant employees for their significant contributions in connection with the outstanding 
performance of the Company. The Board of Directors determined that such action was also in the best interests of the 
shareholders as it believed that such plan would engender loyalty, promote equity ownership, and encourage increased future 
performance by the subject employee population.  The Company recorded compensation expense of $64,000 during the year 
ended March 31, 2006 related to these accelerated options for options exercised by individuals who terminated employment prior 
to the original option vesting date. 

 
Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units:  The Company has instituted long term incentive plans for certain key 

employees. These plans call for the issuance of restricted stock which vest upon the achievement of certain performance based 
goals as well as service time incurred.  Restricted stock and restricted stock units may also be granted to other employees with 
vesting periods that range from one to three years.  In addition, annually on January 10th the Board of Directors is granted 

Number of 
Shares 

Weighted  
Average Exercise 

Price 

Weighted  
Average Remaining 

Contractual Life 
Range of  

Exercise Prices 
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restricted stock. These restricted stock shares vest on a pro-rata basis on service time incurred in the upcoming calendar year.  The 
fair values of these restricted stock awards are equal to the market price per share of the Company’s common stock on the date of 
grant. 
 
 Nonvested restricted stock and stock unit awards are subject to the risk of forfeiture until the fulfillment of specified 
conditions. As of March 31, 2008 there was $4,480,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted 
stock and stock unit awards granted under the Company’s stock plans. This cost is expected to be recognized over a three year 
period.  
 
A summary of the Company’s restricted stock and stock unit activity is as follows: 

 
 2008  2007  2006 

 
Number 
of Shares  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price  
Number 
of Shares  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price  
Number of 

Shares  

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
Restricted stock and units outstanding, 
beginning of year 49,538  $    54.52  23,125  $    54.92  4,889  $     34.52 
Granted 72,970  60.80  49,538  54.52  24,077  55.32 
Vested (9,807)  56.77  (23,125)  54.92  (5,841)  39.50 
Forfeited (2,400)  60.62  —  —  —  — 
Restricted stock and units outstanding, 
end of year 110,301  $    58.34  49,538  $    54.52  23,125  $     54.92 
 
  
7. BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION  

 
In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 131 “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” 

the Company has determined that it has only one operating segment, the X-ray product segment. This includes X-ray detection 
and imaging products used primarily for the detection of illegal drugs, weapons and explosives, and smuggled goods. The 
equipment is purchased by sophisticated government and commercial clients focused on the detection of organic material in 
complex backgrounds and the ability to see the contents of containers with precision. 

 
Geographical Data 
 
 All of the Company’s export sales originate from the United States.  At March 31, 2008, approximately 4.3% of the 
Company’s assets were in foreign countries.  The majority of these foreign assets were inventory in international depots for field 
replacements or systems shipped internationally but not accepted by fiscal year end.  
  
  The following table shows the breakdown of net sales and contract revenues to foreign and domestic customers and the major 
regions of international activity based upon customer country of domicile: 
  
Net Sales and Contract Revenues 
 Fiscal Year 
 
(Dollars in thousands)  2008 2007 2006 
   
Domestic $  107,021     64% $ 111,335       73% $ 141,491 86% 
International     59,712      36%    41,851       27%     22,113 14% 
Net Sales and Contract Revenues $  166,733   100%          $  153,186    100%  $ 163,604 100% 

Percent of International Revenue by Major Region: 
 Middle East & Africa  70% 66% 50% 
 Pacific Rim 14% 20% 37% 
 Europe 14% 14% 11% 
 All Other 2% —% 2% 
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Major Customers:  Sales to major customers (representing in excess of 10% of consolidated revenues) consisted of the 

following: 
 
Fiscal 2008:   $20,325,000 and $16,602,000, respectively, to two customers. 
 
Fiscal 2007:   $48,142,000 and $22,894,000, respectively, to two customers. 
 
Fiscal 2006:  $48,722,000 and $43,485,000, respectively, to two customers.              
 
Domestically, the Company’s primary client base is comprised of agencies of the U.S. Government. Approximately 55%, 

70%, and 77%, of the Company’s sales in fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006 respectively, were derived from either (i) contracting 
directly with the U.S. Government, or (ii) contracting with contractors working directly with the U.S. Government. Certain of 
the Company’s contracts with the U.S. Government provide the U.S. Government with the standard unilateral right to terminate 
these contracts for convenience. To date, the Company has not experienced any material losses as a result of this contractual 
provision. 

 
One customer at March 31, 2008 had accounts receivable balances representing in excess of 10% of consolidated accounts 

receivable. This customer, an agency of the U.S. Government, had receivables totaling $6,726,000 (24%) at March 31, 2008.  
Two customers at March 31, 2007 had accounts receivable balances representing in excess of 10% of consolidated accounts 
receivable.  These customers, both agencies of the U.S. Government, had receivables totaling $6,322,000 (26%) and $3,535,000 
(14%) at March 31, 2007.   

 
Included in unbilled costs and fees at March 31, 2008 was $5,783,000 related to five customers, which is expected to be billed 

and collected during fiscal 2009. Included in unbilled costs and fees at March 31, 2007 was $5,074,000 related to three 
customers, which was billed and collected during fiscal 2008.  
 
8. SALES OF ASSETS 

 
In January 2005, the Company completed an agreement to sell certain assets, comprised of inventory, fixed assets, intellectual 

property, and certain revenue producing contracts of its High Energy Systems Division to Accuray, Incorporated (“Accuray”). 
The sales price for these assets totaled $8,300,000 of which $5,500,000 was received in cash and $2,800,000 in the form of a 
promissory note, $2,000,000 of which was secured by a letter of credit. The note receivable bore an interest rate of 7% and 
matured in January of 2006. The Company recognized a gain on the sale of these assets of $5,442,000, which was included in 
income from operations in the year ended March 31, 2005.  During fiscal 2006, upon expiration of the warranty period for 
material sold, the unused warranty reserve of $336,000, established at the time of sale, was reversed and is included as additional 
gain on sale of assets for the year ended March 31, 2006. In conjunction with this sale, certain employees of the High Energy 
Systems Division were employed by Accuray and the Company entered into a license agreement and a supply agreement for linear 
accelerators with Accuray.   

 
9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
Deferred Compensation 
 
 The Company had an unfunded deferred compensation plan, originally adopted in 1976 and amended at various times, for 
certain retired directors.  This plan is closed such that no other directors are qualified for compensation under this plan.  This 
plan provides for periodic payments beginning at age 65, the amount of which depends on the director’s length of service. The 
Company paid $17,000 per year in the years ended March 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 under this deferred compensation plan. At 
March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2007, $61,000 and $69,000, respectively, was accrued for under this plan. 

 
Lease Liability 
 

 In conjunction with the sale of the High Energy Systems division in fiscal 2005 (see Note 8), the lease for the California 
operations of the High Energy Systems Division was assigned to Accuray. The Company remains secondarily liable for the 
remaining lease payments in the event of default by Accuray during the lease term which expires in February 2011. Remaining 
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lease payments at March 31, 2008 totaled $1,140,000. No accrual for this contingent liability has been recorded at March 31, 
2008 as payment of this expense is considered remote. 

 
Litigation 
 
On October 3, 2007, the Company commenced litigation in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia 
against AutoClear, LLC, and its affiliates Control Screening, LLC, and Scan-Tech Security, LP, for infringement of the 
Company’s United States Patent No. 5,313,511, seeking damages and injunctive relief. The parties have recently begun discovery 
in this matter. 

 
 On September 4, 2007, the Company received a notice from the United States Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) 
that it may potentially be liable for certain costs related to the proposed clean-up at the Sutton Brook Disposal Area Superfund 
Site located in Tewksbury, Massachusetts. The Company is one of approximately 45 entities identified by the EPA as a 
Potentially Responsible Party (“PRP”) in connection with alleged historical disposal of waste materials for the period from 1958 
through the mid-1980s, the timeframe under investigation by the EPA. The Company has denied liability, and has initiated 
participation in the global negotiation and settlement processes with the EPA and with other PRPs. Such negotiation processes are 
ongoing.  The Company is not able to estimate any potential cost associated with this claim. 
 
 The Company is also subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business.  At the 
present time, it is not possible to predict the outcome of these matters; however, the Company currently believes that resolving 
these matters will not have a material adverse impact on its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. 
 
Purchase Commitments 
 

 In the normal course of business, the Company enters into purchase orders with its vendors for the purchase of materials or 
services to meet its production needs. At March 31, 2008, the Company had $29,965,000 of open purchase orders which are 
expected to be fulfilled primarily within the next 2 years. Certain single source vendors or vendors producing custom material 
require significant lead times from order to delivery of their material. Should the demand for the Company’s products decline 
significantly, or should there be a significant shift in the mix of products being demanded, the Company may incur cancellation 
charges related to these commitments, that could be material to the Company’s results of operations. To date, the Company has 
not experienced any material losses related to cancellation penalties. 
 
Employment Agreements 
 

 On September 15, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a Change of Control and Termination for 
Convenience program for the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and other members of the Company’s executive staff, including 
its Chief Financial Officer.  The program was amended on February 8, 2007 by the Company’s Board of Directors.  Under this 
program, as amended, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, in the event termination pursuant to a change of control, is 
eligible to receive a payment equal to three times his average base salary plus his annual target bonus, the continuation of health 
benefits for a period of three years and the vesting of all options and restricted stock.  In the event of qualifying termination not 
pursuant to a change of control, the Chief Executive Officer is eligible for a payment equal to two times his average base salary 
and the continuation of health benefits for a period of eighteen months.  The Company’s other executive staff, in the event of a 
change of control, are eligible to receive a payment equal to two year’s average base salary plus his or her annual target bonus, the 
continuation of health benefits for a period of three years and the vesting of all options and restricted stock.   In the event of 
qualifying termination not pursuant to a change of control, the members of the executive staff are eligible to receive a payment 
equal to one times his or her average base salary and the continuation of health benefits for one year. 
 
Retirement Savings Plan 
 

The Company maintains a 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan for all employees.   Employees are eligible to participate on the 
first of the month following date of employment.  The Plan is funded by elective employee contributions of up to 100% of their 
compensation up to IRS limits. Under the Plan the Company at its discretion matches 50% of the first 6% of employee 
contributions for each participant in the form of Company common stock. Expenses under the Plan, consisting of Company 
contributions which were made in Company stock and Plan administrative expenses paid by the Company, totaled $731,000, 
$660,000, and $520,000, in 2008, 2007, and 2006 respectively. 
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AMERICAN SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
UNAUDITED QUARTERLY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2008 AND MARCH 31, 2007 

 
 
 2008 by quarter 2007 by quarter 

 1st 2nd 3rd  4th  1st 2nd 3rd 4th 

   (In thousands, except per share amounts) 

Net sales and contract revenues $ 44,471 $ 37,627 $   42,615  $   42,020  $ 29,882 $ 29,588 $ 47,797 $45,919 
Gross profit    17,401  14,078  15,184  13,087  13,497  13,529  21,938  17,575 
Operating income   8,161  5,454  4,427  3,181  5,553  6,067  12,559  8,040 
Net income   6,172  4,515  4,002  2,789  5,995   4,753  8,072  5,790 
Net income per share 

—Basic  $ 0.67 $ 0.49 $ 0.44 $ 0.31 $ 0.66  $ 0.52 $ 0.89 $ 0.63 
—Diluted $ 0.66 $ 0.48 $ 0.43 $ 0.30 $ 0.41  $ 0.49 $ 0.86 $ 0.60 
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SIGNATURES 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused 

this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
   AMERICAN SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING, INC. 
 

DATED: June 12, 2008 By: /s/ ANTHONY R. FABIANO 
  
                                                                                                          Anthony R. Fabiano 
 President and Chief Executive Officer 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 

persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the dates indicated: 
  
 Signature Title Date 
 

/s/  ANTHONY R. FABIANO 

Anthony R. Fabiano 

Director and President and Chief Executive 
Officer (Principal Executive Officer) 

June 12, 2008 

   
/s/  KENNETH J.GALAZNIK 

Kenneth J. Galaznik 

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer  
(Principal Financial Officer) 
 

June 12, 2008 

   
/s/  DENIS R. BROWN 

Denis R. Brown 

Chairman of the Board, Director June 12, 2008 

   
/s/  ROGER P. HEINISCH 

Roger P. Heinisch 

Director June 12, 2008 

   
/s/  HAMILTON W. HELMER 

Hamilton W. Helmer 

Director June 12, 2008 

   
/s/  ERNEST J. MONIZ 

Ernest J. Moniz 

Director June 12, 2008 

   
/s/  MARK S. THOMPSON 

Mark S. Thompson 

Director June 12, 2008 

   
/s/ CARL W.  VOGT 

Carl W. Vogt 

Director June 12, 2008 
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(3)(a)   Restated Articles of Organization of the Company (filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1967 and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

    

(3)(b)   Articles of Amendment to Restated Articles of Organization of Company (filed as Exhibit 
2(a)(ii)(B) to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-7, No. 2-56452, filed May 25, 
1976 and incorporated herein by reference) 

    

(3)(c)   Articles of Amendment to Restated Articles of Organization of Company (filed as Exhibit 12 to the 
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1976, and incorporated 
herein by reference) 

    

(3)(d)   By-laws of Company, as amended (filed as Exhibit 2(a)(iii) to the Company's Registration 
Statement on Form S-7, No. 2-56452, filed May 25, 1976 and incorporated herein by reference) 

    

(3)(e)   Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2003, and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

    

(4)   Shareholders Rights Plan (filed as Exhibit to the Company's filing on Form dated, 1992 and 
incorporated herein by references) 

    

(4)(a)   Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated April 17, 1998, between the Company and American Stock 
Transfer & Trust Company (filed as Exhibit 1 to the Company's filing on Form 8-A12B filed on 
April 15, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference) 

    

(4)(c)  Rights Agreement, dated April 17, 2008, between the Company and American Stock Transfer & 
Trust Company (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s filing on Form 8-A12B filed on April 18, 
2008 and incorporated herein by reference) 

  

(10)(b)(xii)   1997 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 99 to the Company's Registration 
Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-27927, filed on May 28, 1997 and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

    

(10)(b)(xiii)   1998 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit (10)(b)(xiii) to the Company's Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference) 

    

(10)(c)(i)   Lease of Billerica property (filed as Exhibit 10(c) to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended March 31, 1995 and incorporated herein by reference) 

    

(10)(c)(ii)   Amendment to Lease of Billerica property (filed as Exhibit 10(c)(ii) to the Company's Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 28, 1997 and incorporated herein by reference) 

    

(10)(c)(iv)   1999 Combination Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 99 to the Company's Registration 
Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-91801, filed on November 30, 1999 and incorporated 
herein by reference) 

    

(10)(c)(v)   2000 Combination Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit A to the Definitive Proxy Statement on 
Schedule 14A filed on August 18, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference) 

    

(10)(c)(vi)   2002 Combination Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's Registration 
Statement on Form S-8, No. 333-102338, filed on January 3, 2003 and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

    

(10)(c)(xv)   Lease of Mountain View, California facility for High Energy Systems Division (filed as Exhibit 
10(c)(xv) to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 
and incorporated herein by reference) 

    

(10)(c)(xvi) * Employment Offer Letter between the Company and Anthony R. Fabiano dated August 21, 2003 
(filed as Exhibit 10(c)(xv) to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference) 

    

(10)(c)(xvii)   Second Amendment of Lease of 829 Middlesex Turnpike, Billerica, Massachusetts (filed as Exhibit 
10(c)(vii) to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 
2004 and incorporated herein by reference) 

    

(10)(c)(xviii)   Amendment of 2002 Combination Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Company's 
Registration Statement on Form S-8, No. 333-102338, filed on January 3, 2003 and incorporated 
herein by reference) 

    

(10)(c)(xix)   2003 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Registration 
Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-117843, filed on July 30, 2004 and incorporated herein by 
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reference) 
(10)(c)(xx)   Amendment to 2003 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (filed as Exhibit 10(c)(xx) to the 

Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2005 and incorporated 
herein by reference) 

    

(10)(c)(xxi)  2005 Equity and Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on 
Form S-8, No. 333-129851, filed on November 21, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference) 

  

(10)(c)(xxii) * Change in Control & Severance Benefit Agreement between the Company and Anthony Fabiano 
dated November 3, 2005 (filed as Exhibit 10(c)(xxii) to the Company’s Annual report on Form 10-
K for the year ended March 31, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference) 

  

(10)(c)(xxiii) * Form of Change in Control & Severance Benefit Agreement between the Company and Named 
Executives (filed as Exhibit 10(c)(xxiii) to the Company’s Annual report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended March 31, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference) 

  

(10)(c)(xxiv)  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (Performance) under the AS&E 2005 Equity and Incentive 
Plan (filed as Exhibit 10(c)(xxiv) to the Company’s Annual report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended March 31, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference) 

  

(10)(c)(xxv)  Form of Stock Option Agreement (Performance) under the AS&E 2005 Equity and Incentive Plan 
(filed as Exhibit 10(c)(xxv) to the Company’s Annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
March 31, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference) 

  

(10)(c)(xxvi)  Form of Stock Option Agreement (ISO) under the AS&E 2005 Equity and Incentive Plan (filed as 
Exhibit 10(c)(xxvi) to the Company’s Annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 
2006 and incorporated herein by reference) 

  

(10)(c)(xxvii)  Form of Stock Option Agreement (NQ) under the AS&E 2005 Equity and Incentive Plan (filed as 
Exhibit 10(c)(xxvi) to the Company’s Annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 
2006 and incorporated herein by reference) 

  

10(c)(xxviii)  Third Amendment of Lease of 829 Middlesex Turnpike, Billerica, Massachusetts (filed as Exhibit 
10(c)(xxviii) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2007 
and incorporated herein by reference) 

  

10(c)(xxix) * 
*** 

Employment Agreement between the Company and Anthony R. Fabiano dated February 2, 2008 
(filed herewith) 

  

(10)(d)(xi)   Loan and Security Agreement between the Company and Silicon Valley Bank East dated August 
11, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 10(d)(xi) to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the 
quarter ended September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference) 

    

(10)(d)(xii)   Export Import Bank Loan and Security Agreement between the Company and Silicon Valley Bank 
East dated August 11, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 10(d)(xii) to the Company's Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference) 

    

(10)(d)(xiii)  ** Asset Purchase Agreement between Accuray Incorporated and the Company dated December 11, 
2004 (filed as Exhibit 10(d)(xiii) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended March 31, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference) 

    

(10)(d)(xix)  Third Loan Modification Agreement between Silicon Valley Bank and the Company dated 
November 15, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 10(d)(xiii) to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference) 

  

(21.1)  Identification of Company’s subsidiary, AS&E Global, Inc., incorporated in Massachusetts (filed as 
Exhibit 22.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2003 
and incorporated herein by reference) 

  

(23.1)  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm   
(31.1)  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)   
(31.2)  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)   
(32.1)  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant 

to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
  

(32.2)  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant 
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

  

  
* Contract with Management 
** The Registrant agrees to furnish a supplemental copy of the schedules to this agreement to the SEC upon request 
*** Filed herewith
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Exhibit 23.1 
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
 

As independent registered public accountants, we hereby consent to the incorporation of our report dated June 11, 2008 
relating to the consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of American 
Science and Engineering, Inc. for the year ended March 31, 2008 included in this form 10-K into the Company’s previously filed 
Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-05797,  333-13259, 333-27929, 333-69717, 333-91801, 333-53842, 333-
102338, 333-117843, 333-117844, and 333-129851) and Form S-3 (Nos. 033-61903, 333-09151 and 333-89836). 
 
 
 

/s/ Vitale, Caturano, and Company, Ltd. 
Boston, MA 
June 11, 2008 
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Exhibit 31.1 
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
Section 302 Certification 

 
I, Anthony R. Fabiano, certify that: 
 
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of American Science and Engineering, Inc.; 
 
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

  
 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 

under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiary, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared; 

 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and 

 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting; and 

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonable likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

 
Date: June 12, 2008 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

/s/ ANTHONY R. FABIANO 

Anthony R. Fabiano 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
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Exhibit 31.2 
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
Section 302 Certification 

 
I, Kenneth J. Galaznik, certify that: 
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of American Science and Engineering, Inc.; 
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in 

all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiary, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual 
report is being prepared; 

 b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by 
this report based on such evaluation; and 

 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and; 

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

 a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

 
Date: June 12, 2008 

/s/ KENNETH J. GALAZNIK  

Kenneth J. Galaznik 
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer 
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Exhibit 32.1 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 
Pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned, the President and Chief Executive Officer of American Science and Engineering, Inc. (the 
“Company”), does hereby certify that to the undersigned’s knowledge: 
 

1. the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2008 (“10-K”) fully complies with the 
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

 
2. the information contained in the Company’s 10-K being filed fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 

condition and results of operation of the Company 
 
Date: June 12, 2008 
  
 
 
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to American Science and Engineering, 
Inc. and will be retained by American Science and Engineering, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or 
its staff upon request. 
 
 
 

/s/ ANTHONY R. FABIANO 

Anthony R. Fabiano 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
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Exhibit 32.2 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 
Pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned, the Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of American Science and Engineering, Inc. (the 
“Company”), does hereby certify that to the undersigned’s knowledge: 

 
1. the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2008 (“10-K”) fully complies with the 

requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
2. the information contained in the Company’s 10-K being filed fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial 

condition and results of operation of the Company 
 

Date: June 12, 2008 
  
 
 
 
 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to American Science and Engineering, 

Inc. and will be retained by American Science and Engineering, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or 
its staff upon request. 

/s/ KENNETH J. GALAZNIK  

Kenneth J. Galaznik 
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer 
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